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          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: This meeting of

          3  the General Welfare Committee is called to order.

          4                 Good morning, everyone. I'd like to

          5  apologize up front for the late start. My apology.

          6  I'd like to also welcome my colleagues from the

          7  General Welfare Committee, Maria del Carmen Arroyo,

          8  and Larry Seabrook, both of the Bronx.

          9                 I would like to welcome a special

         10  guest, who will be speaking in a moment, Council

         11  Member Hiram Monserrate from Queens, and, of course,

         12  our counsel, Jackie Sherman.

         13                 Today we're having our first hearing

         14  on Intro. 504. It's an important piece of

         15  legislation that would require governing boards of

         16  cooperative corporations, popularly known as co-ops,

         17  to provide prompt, detailed, written explanations,

         18  as to why they reject applicants for co-op units.

         19                 This legislation has been introduced

         20  by Council Member Monserrate in a moment of profound

         21  change in the New York State real estate, in New

         22  York City real estate market.

         23                 New York State's real estate market

         24  is booming at this point, it includes the most

         25  significant number of co-op housing foundations in
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          2  the country. Nearly a quarter of home owners in the

          3  City own co-ops, and there are nearly 361,000 co-op

          4  units Citywide. So, it's a huge, huge number of

          5  folks affected. Co-ops governed by independent

          6  boards with substantial powers of self-governance do

          7  currently have wide-ranging discretion in terms of

          8  rejecting applicants, but obviously cannot decline

          9  any application for discriminatory reasons, that's

         10  part of the law already obviously.

         11                 The bottom line of the goal of this

         12  legislation is to bolster a prohibition against

         13  discrimination by co-op boards.

         14                 We look forward to testimony today.

         15  We know today we have testimony of folks who support

         16  this bill and some other folks who want to see some

         17  revisions and some other folks still who oppose the

         18  bill. We look forward to a spirited discussion and

         19  hearing all points of view, but it's obvious this is

         20  legislation that responds to a very important

         21  situation facing us in our real estate market.

         22                 And now, again, I'd like to introduce

         23  and welcome the bill sponsor, and welcome him to

         24  provide some opening comments. Council Member Hiram

         25  Monserrate.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you

          3  very much, Mr. Chairman. Thank you for the attention

          4  you have provided to this important piece of

          5  legislation.

          6                 We know that purchasing a place to

          7  live is one of the most common steps that a family

          8  takes and co-op apartments are a very common form of

          9  ownership in the City of New York now, as you have

         10  stated well over 300,000 units.

         11                 While many people assume that co-ops

         12  are just in Manhattan, in fact, over half of the

         13  co-ops in the City are located outside of Manhattan.

         14  Many of them in my district, Mr. Chairman.

         15                 There isn't any question that it is

         16  illegal under New York City Human Rights Law for

         17  co-ops, like all other housing providers, to

         18  discriminate. Yet, discrimination in co-op

         19  admissions appears to be widespread.

         20                 A top official of a group

         21  representing co-op boards quoted in a '95 Times

         22  series on co-ops acknowledged that absolutely,

         23  "there are buildings that don't want kids and there

         24  are buildings with clear ethnic preferences and

         25  clear racial preferences, and the brokers know where
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          2  to take people."

          3                 Last year, the real estate section of

          4  the New York Times quoted a broker as saying the

          5  children are becoming a main situation. "We used to

          6  prequalify buyers with financial qualifications and

          7  liabilities, now we also have to prequalify them on

          8  the age of their kids."

          9                 Late in April of this year, a leading

         10  New York State real estate broker was quoted in the

         11  Times Real Estate Section in connection with an

         12  illustration of what she described as "an extreme

         13  misuse of co-op board power."

         14                 The broker continued, "Co-ops say

         15  they're private clubs, and they act like private

         16  clubs, and they play by those rules and, therefore,

         17  fair housing isn't even a topic."

         18                 A critical tool in the arsenal of

         19  discriminating co-ops is the fact that they don't

         20  have to provide reasons to persons who have been

         21  rejected. A requirement that co-ops disclose the

         22  reasons would deter acts of discrimination and more

         23  generally in a matter of simple fairness.

         24                 Repeated studies have shown that New

         25  York City and its surrounding metropolitan area are
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          2  amongst the most segregated places for

          3  African-Americans and Latinos in the entire United

          4  States.

          5                 Intro. 504 would require co-ops to

          6  disclose in a timely fashion their specific reasons

          7  for rejection and only permit co-ops to defend

          8  themselves against discrimination charges, based on

          9  reasons they have provided to the family rejected.

         10                 Co-ops will no longer be able to use

         11  the common tactic of evading responsibility by

         12  coming up with new reasons after that fact.

         13                 It is important to note that this

         14  bill does not -- what it does not do. It does not

         15  involve any requirement for co-ops to report to the

         16  City or any agency of the City of New York. It

         17  explicitly disclaims any intention to change the

         18  reason for which co-ops can legally turn people

         19  down.

         20                 Co-ops will continue to be able to

         21  use their judgment as to what non-discriminatory

         22  admission standards will be enforced in their

         23  buildings. This bill does nothing to second guess

         24  the co-op judgment.

         25                 A principle thing a co-op has to do
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          2  under this bill is to lay its cards on the table and

          3  tell the person rejected the whys and the

          4  wherefores. So, long as a co-op is not looking for

          5  ways to cover up the real reasons for its action,

          6  this requirement is not burdensome in any respect.

          7                 While there are some aspects of this

          8  bill about which reasonable people can differ, and

          9  we look forward to that spirit of debate today,

         10  three things are essential. It has to contain

         11  effective enforcement mechanisms; it must require

         12  that reasons be set forth with specificity, telling

         13  someone that it was a financial doesn't do anything,

         14  and it must do nothing that is arguably outside the

         15  authority of the Council.

         16                 I believe that the bill as drafted

         17  meets these tests, and I look forward to discussions

         18  with my colleagues and all interested parties.

         19                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         21  Council member.

         22                 Thank you, again, for the work you've

         23  done on this issue.

         24                 Before we turn to our first witness,

         25  I'd like to welcome Council Member Christine Quinn.
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          2  And, again, I'd like to say to our first witness, I

          3  apologize for the delay in getting started.

          4                 We've had a good working relationship

          5  so we'll take this on our debit side and give you a

          6  few minutes back another time.

          7                 Let me welcome Deputy Commissioner

          8  Mulqueen.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: Thank

         10  you, Mr. Chairman, Council members, good morning.

         11                 We want to thank you for giving the

         12  Commission the opportunity to testify before you

         13  regarding Intro. No. 504. I apologize that

         14  Commissioner Gatling couldn't be here today. She's

         15  in Boston at a meeting, trying to secure some

         16  additional grant funds for Commission projects.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You have to

         18  formally introduce yourself into the microphone.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: I'm

         20  sorry. Cliff Mulqueen, Deputy Commissioner, New York

         21  City Commission on Human Rights.

         22                 The Commission supports the idea of

         23  requiring co-op boards to provide reasons for the

         24  rejection of purchase applications.

         25                 You should be aware that the
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          2  Commission routinely requires co-op boards to

          3  provide reasons for rejection during the course of

          4  our discrimination investigations. We are, however,

          5  concerned that this proposal creates an entirely

          6  procedural cause of action having nothing to do with

          7  discrimination, and places the burden of

          8  adjudicating these causes of action on the

          9  Commission requiring us to divert our resources away

         10  from our primary, most important functions, which

         11  are investigation and prosecution of discrimination

         12  allegations, and the education of the public

         13  regarding the human rights law.

         14                 Additionally, we have concerns

         15  regarding the rationale for the damage provisions

         16  contained in Section 8-1105. Under this proposal,

         17  the amount of damages is determined by the number of

         18  times the co-op board has violated the statement

         19  provision. The third plaintiff, who presumably

         20  suffered the same amount of damages as the first

         21  plaintiff, is entitled to substantially more money

         22  for no other reason other than it was the third time

         23  that the co-op board violated the provision.

         24                 Though we understand the desire to

         25  escalate punishment for repeat offenders, we don't
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          2  understand why the Plaintiff in the third position

          3  would be entitled to a windfall.

          4                 We suggest that maybe punishment for

          5  violations take form of a fine, instead of damages

          6  to a particular claim.

          7                 As with all of our testimony

          8  regarding previous introductions, the Commission is

          9  opposed to the award of attorneys fees for the work

         10  that we do. The Commission investigates allegations

         11  of discrimination and advocates on behalf of

         12  complainants who have meritorious claims free of

         13  charge.

         14                 This aspect of the proposal will not

         15  benefit either the Commission or a potential

         16  complainant, it will only serve to benefit certain

         17  members of the plaintiff's bar. Additionally,

         18  awarding attorneys fees will adversely affect the

         19  Commission by opening it up to additional

         20  litigation, and as I stated earlier, diverting our

         21  resources to other less important matters.

         22                 Lastly, prohibiting co-ops from

         23  raising defenses not contained in their original

         24  statement for reasons of their reasons for

         25  rejection, may be a violation of due process.
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          2                 Obviously, newly raised reasons for

          3  rejection would also raise questions regarding the

          4  credibility of those reasons.

          5                 Questions of credibility should be

          6  left to a finder of fact, whether it's a jury, a

          7  judge, or in some circumstances the Commission to

          8  resolve.

          9                 Perhaps a presumption against

         10  validity would be more appropriate than an outright

         11  prohibition.

         12                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         13  share our views.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         15  Commissioner.

         16                 I appreciate the specificity of your

         17  testimony. And I am going to take you on your word,

         18  your opening statements, that you support some of

         19  the idea here. So, I'll ask questions based on you

         20  appreciating some of the motive for this.

         21                 Let me ask a couple of questions. I

         22  know Council Member Monserrate and my other

         23  colleagues do have questions as well, I'm sure.

         24                 How big a problem do you think it is?

         25  Can you quantify how prevalent the problem of
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          2  discrimination by co-op board is?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: Well,

          4  as you know, when we first came to the Commission,

          5  there were 5,000 cases pending. Over the last three

          6  plus years that we've been there, we probably

          7  handled another 3,000. So, out of 8,000 total cases

          8  there have been 20, approximately, that have been

          9  brought against the co-op boards. So, that's

         10  one-quarter of one percent of our cases.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: How much do you

         12  think perspective, or people who apply to become

         13  co-op owners understand their rights? How much do

         14  you think they understand that they have recourse to

         15  go to the Human Rights Commission? What kind of

         16  mechanism is there for educating people, and, you

         17  know, how far do you think we're reaching?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: Well,

         19  as we've testified previously, I think the Community

         20  Relations Bureau educates approximately 50,000

         21  people a year about the Human Rights Law.

         22                 Part of that education includes

         23  mortgage counseling and purchase counseling for

         24  people that are buying apartments or homes.

         25                 We do education with real estate
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          2  brokers. I think we basically just started it this

          3  year. I think we educated about 150 real estate

          4  brokers at three different events regarding the

          5  Human Rights Law.

          6                 I don't know that we'd do anything

          7  specific toward co-op boards. Again, it's

          8  one-quarter of one percent of our cases. So, it's

          9  not really where it would seem likely that we would

         10  put our resources.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I guess it's a

         12  little bit chicken and egg from my point of view. I

         13  certainly could believe that you're getting that low

         14  number because there's not a problem and I could

         15  also believe you're getting that low number because

         16  people really don't understand their rights

         17  thoroughly or don't know where to go if they have a

         18  problem, or assume, or make certain assumptions

         19  about how the whole situation worked.

         20                 Of the cases you have had, what have

         21  you found? What has been the outcome of those cases,

         22  if you could kind of break out the --

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: Out of

         24  the 20 cases that I mentioned, there were five that

         25  resulted in a positive outcome for the complainant.
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          2                 We were able to force one co-op board

          3  to actually sell the apartment to the person that

          4  was complaining. We were able to intervene early and

          5  get that done before the apartment was sold to

          6  someone else.

          7                 And in the other cases, we got

          8  approximately $30,000 for the individuals, who

          9  either the apartment was already sold, or they just

         10  didn't want to live somewhere where people were

         11  discriminating against them.

         12                 I think the highest we got was about

         13  60 and the lowest we got was about 20.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And the other

         15  15 cases?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: We

         17  found that there was no probable cause. We required

         18  the co-op board to provide us with all the

         19  information. Most of the reasons were financial. We

         20  reviewed the financials and it seemed like a

         21  legitimate reason.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You asked the

         23  co-op board to provide everything that had been

         24  submitted to them, and you did an independent

         25  analysis?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN:

          3  Absolutely.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And when you

          5  did that, do you look at the applicant that was

          6  rejected versus the one who was accepted and other

          7  applicants for comparison?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: Well,

          9  if it's strictly a financial situation, we look at

         10  the finances. And if the finances are clear, or it's

         11  reasonable that that person didn't have enough money

         12  to live there, usually I guess we use a 50 percent

         13  sort of rule, if the expenses of the co-op are going

         14  to be more than 50 percent of the person's income,

         15  it seems reasonable that you would reject that

         16  person, and so we don't mess with the cause for

         17  discretion in that case.

         18                 I mean, if there are issues, we'll

         19  look to see who else lives there. We'll ask for

         20  other applications to see if they are

         21  discriminating. But that's only in the cases where a

         22  decision didn't appear to be reasonable.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Let me

         24  turn it over to Council Member Monserrate.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chairman.

          3                 Deputy Commissioner, I have a couple

          4  of very brief questions.

          5                 First and foremost, in your testimony

          6  you outline that it is the opinion of your agency

          7  that the proposal creates an entirely procedural

          8  cause of action and places the burden of

          9  adjudicating these causes of action on the

         10  Commission.

         11                 I'm just going to follow your train

         12  of thought for a moment. Are you testifying today

         13  that the adjudication of these cases would provide

         14  too much burden for your agency? Is that your

         15  testimony?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: What

         17  I'm saying is, I mean we're an agency that brings

         18  cases against people who are discriminating, are

         19  believed to be discriminating, or we investigate

         20  allegations of discrimination.

         21                 Under this proposal, we would also be

         22  required to handle cases of individuals who were

         23  denied by the co-op board, maybe for legitimate

         24  reasons having nothing to do with discrimination,

         25  but they're going to bring a procedural case to our
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          2  agency merely because the co-op board gave them a

          3  notice late. Maybe they gave them the notice in 20

          4  days instead of five days, or maybe the notice

          5  wasn't specific enough. It said, you know, financial

          6  reasons, instead of saying, well, you make this much

          7  money and you have this much other income, and, you

          8  know, this is how much it's going to cost to live

          9  here and we don't believe you'll have enough money.

         10                 So, these things have nothing to do

         11  with what our agency's function is. But then we

         12  would be required then to accept those complaints

         13  and divert our resources to those non-discriminatory

         14  procedural violations, merely based on the timing

         15  that a statement was given.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: If your

         17  Commission didn't investigate or adjudicate these

         18  cases, who would you believe would be better suited

         19  in the City of New York to do so?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: I

         21  assume some agency that deals with licensing or

         22  these type of procedural matters. I don't know who

         23  would be able to do that. Consumer Affairs possibly,

         24  I don't know.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you.

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  I think I'm clearer now. Thank you.

          3                 The second part of your testimony

          4  that I have some questions with regard to, in your

          5  first page in the last paragraph, your concerns

          6  about, regarding the rationale for damage provisions

          7  contained in Section 8-1105.

          8                 My question to you is, if you have

          9  concerns, or your Commission has concerns about

         10  damage provisions, would you be willing to work with

         11  us, as opposed to having damage provisions?

         12                 You just testified about fines, that

         13  you believe there should be fines as opposed to

         14  damages, would those figures be equivalent to the

         15  damage provisions, is my first question?

         16                 And, two, should those fines also be

         17  tiered as the damage provisions are?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: I don't

         19  really have an issue, or we don't have an issue with

         20  the numbers that we've outlined here, and we

         21  certainly don't have an issue with escalating

         22  damages for individuals who repeatedly violate the

         23  law. So, our only concern is, you know, if someone

         24  was legitimately denied the ability to purchase a

         25  co-op, there was no discrimination whatsoever.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Yes.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: They

          4  were denied because of valid financial reasons. What

          5  damage did they really suffer by being given the

          6  statement notice in 15 days instead of five days? I

          7  don't know that they really have any damages that we

          8  can point to and discuss. So, why would the first

          9  person in that situation be treated differently than

         10  the third person in that situation?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: I don't

         12  know if I follow your train of thought.

         13                 If we're codifying that there are

         14  going to be rules in the City of New York with

         15  respect to responses from a co-op board, then I

         16  would imagine that that codification would require

         17  some type of enforcement by someone, whether it's

         18  the Commission or another City agency.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: I don't

         20  question that. There would have to be some

         21  enforcement, and there would have to be some penalty

         22  for violation.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And some

         24  time frames.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: And
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          2  some time frames. And then a penalty for violating

          3  the time frame.

          4                 The question is, why does an

          5  individual who was rightfully denied the ability to

          6  purchase shares in a cooperative, why should they

          7  get $20,000 because they got their notice in 15

          8  days, as opposed to the first person that got their

          9  notice in 15 days who basically suffered the same

         10  violation only get $5,000.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Right. I

         12  think that your point is well taken. As prudent

         13  representatives, we'll make sure we do the best we

         14  can to work that out so things like that don't

         15  happen.

         16                 I just wanted to outline a point. You

         17  have outlined in your testimony that several times

         18  in your own investigations, your Commission's

         19  investigations, you have found that there was no

         20  discriminations, but in fact that it appears to be

         21  legitimate, a disapproval based on financials.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN:

         23  Correct.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:

         25  Understanding that, I think really provides, this
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          2  bill provides the co-op boards with a good

          3  opportunity to clear the record per se, by ensuring

          4  that in fact, if there was no discrimination or

          5  appearance of discrimination, your agency, which in

          6  the City of New York I believe is best equipped to

          7  deal with these matters would be able to give them a

          8  clean bill. Wouldn't you agree with that?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: I'm

         10  sure we're equipped to do it, the question is, you

         11  know, we're going to be diverting resources away

         12  from discrimination matters in dealing with these

         13  procedural matters.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Well, if

         15  there are allegations of discrimination -- if

         16  they're an allegation of discrimination, under the

         17  Charter your Commission --

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN:

         19  Absolutely.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: -- Is

         21  empowered to investigate those.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN:

         23  Absolutely.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And as a

         25  City, if you're testifying that additional workload
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          2  to your agency would require the City of New York,

          3  in particular this body, to look at perhaps

          4  additional City funding so that you can do your

          5  Charter-mandated duties, I'm sure that my colleagues

          6  and I would work very hard on that.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: I have

          8  no issue with performing our Charter-mandated

          9  duties. And if there are allegations of

         10  discrimination, I don't care how many cases there

         11  are, bring them on. We'll be happy to deal with

         12  them, and we will deal with them.

         13                 The issue is these non-discriminatory

         14  cases that this proposal suggests that we also

         15  handle.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:

         17  Understood.

         18                 Two more questions, Mr. Deputy

         19  Commissioner.

         20                 What does your Commission do

         21  currently to educate or to get out information to

         22  co-op boards and perspective purchasers of their

         23  rights and obligations on the Human Rights Law?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: Well,

         25  again, as I mentioned in response to the Chairman's
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          2  questions, we have mortgage counseling for people

          3  who are in the process of purchasing co-ops or

          4  homes, as well as for people who are in trouble

          5  financially.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: And we

          8  do, throughout the year we do various trainings in

          9  different forums. We don't have anything

         10  specifically targeted at co-op boards.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Is there a

         12  document that you can point to that your agency

         13  maybe mails out to co-op boards in the City of New

         14  York?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: No.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: So,

         17  outside of perhaps some seminars, and assuming I'm

         18  jumping with you, outside of some seminars that your

         19  agency might be conducting, there's nothing

         20  formalized that is sent to any co-op board in the

         21  City of New York regarding these issues?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: Not in

         23  particular to co-op boards. We have literature which

         24  outline the Human Rights Law we send to various

         25  people. But, again, not just to co-op boards.

                                                            25

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay.

          3                 Mr. Chairman, those were the

          4  questions I had.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          6  much, Council member.

          7                 Before I turn it over to Council

          8  Member Quinn, I just have to step next door for a

          9  moment to the Environmental Protection Committee,

         10  which I'm a member of. So, I'd like to ask Council

         11  Member Quinn to chair and call upon herself for the

         12  next questions.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         14  And I'm supposed to rule myself out of order if I

         15  get crazy, but that's not going to happen.

         16                 Council Member Monserrate asked a

         17  little bit of what I was going to ask. I was

         18  wondering, Mr. Commissioner, if you could elaborate

         19  a little in your testimony, you made reference to,

         20  if this law was in place, I'm paraphrasing, that

         21  this would bring in cases that would divert you from

         22  the more core mission of Commission, and I just

         23  wanted you to elaborate a little bit on that so I

         24  can understand that better.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: Okay.
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          2                 Under this proposal, if a co-op board

          3  denies an applicant, they have five days to give

          4  that applicant a specific statement regarding the

          5  reasons they were denied.

          6                 If a co-op board violates that

          7  five-day, either the timing rule or the specificity

          8  rule, that applicant will then have a cause of

          9  action under this proposal.

         10                 Now, nobody said anything about

         11  discrimination yet. We're assuming, I'm assuming

         12  that most of these type of cases that would be

         13  brought before the Commission would not be

         14  discrimination allegations, they would merely be

         15  allegations that on this day I had a meeting with

         16  the co-op board, they made a decision and it took

         17  them 15 days to give notice, so under this proposal

         18  I'm entitled to some money.

         19                 These aren't discrimination cases.

         20  This is not our function, and so this would divert

         21  us from our function.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That was

         23  useful, that additional explanation.

         24                 Tell me, when you referenced you

         25  thought there might be other agencies who were more
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          2  involved with licensing or whatever might be more

          3  appropriate. You might not know who or what those

          4  are, but if you had any other thoughts on those?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: I

          6  don't. I mean, I'm new to City government, so I

          7  don't really know what a lot of the other agencies

          8  do.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay.

         10                 We've been joined by Council Member

         11  Gale Brewer, a member of the Committee from

         12  Manhattan.

         13                 I have no other questions. I'm trying

         14  to fill up for time until he gets back in.

         15                 Jackie, do you have any questions?

         16  Because they would be thoughtful.

         17                 She's the lawyer, she has better

         18  questions.

         19                 Well, we're going to say thank you

         20  very much.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MULQUEEN: Thank

         22  you.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We're going

         24  to call up the next group of folks, which is Dr. Leo

         25  Orvis -- Orris -- or else you would be the owner of
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          2  a big outdoor sporting store. Stacey Asem, Gil Ozir

          3  and Naomi Abraham.

          4                 You can just speak in the order I

          5  called you up. When the light is off, that means

          6  your microphone is on. And the clock will be set,

          7  each witness is getting two minutes.

          8                 Is your mic on there? Hang on one

          9  second, Doctor.

         10                 Go ahead.

         11                 DR. ORRIS: Yes. I'm Dr. Leo Orris.

         12  Good morning. I've lived in a co-op in Greenwich

         13  Village for the last 25 years. I own the unit

         14  outright. My wife died a year ago, and I wanted my

         15  daughter, her husband and their adopted daughter to

         16  move in with me. My two-bedroom apartment, however,

         17  was too tight for all of us, so I decided to buy an

         18  additional one-bedroom unit. I originally wanted to

         19  pay all cash for this unit, but was advised to get a

         20  loan. I got the loan commitment with no problem and

         21  applied to purchase the apartment.

         22                 In my building, which has about 400

         23  units, many people own more than one apartment.

         24  After I submitted my application, I was advised that

         25  the Board wanted to interview my daughter and her
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          2  family, even though I was going to be the only

          3  shareholder. I was advised that the Board, quote,

          4  wanted to see who was moving in. My daughter and

          5  son-in-law are both employed. My daughter is a

          6  physician. My son-in-law works in radio. Two days

          7  after the interview, I was advised, not by the

          8  board, that my application had been rejected. No

          9  reason was given.

         10                 I approached one of the interviewers

         11  who told me that he could not talk about the reasons

         12  for the rejection, but that he wanted me to know

         13  that the Board had no problem with me.

         14                 What was the problem? With my

         15  daughter or her family? No finances, since I was

         16  going to be the shareholder. Not the finances of my

         17  daughter or her family. And after my death the board

         18  would have retained the right to prohibit an

         19  assignment to her, if to do so was reasonable. And

         20  in the event my financial net worth is quite

         21  substantial.

         22                 The only fact that stands out as a

         23  real reason, that my son-in-law is Jamaican, and my

         24  adopted grandchild is Guatemalan.

         25                 A co-op board should not be aided in
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          2  its discriminatory conduct by being able to hide

          3  behind the excuse of quotes, we don't have to give a

          4  reason.

          5                 I'm appalled at how my board has

          6  chosen to treat a long-time resident of good

          7  standing. I'm appalled at how discrimination still

          8  rears its ugly head, even in places that many people

          9  would think unlikely. And I am appalled that I am

         10  not even able to get a co-op to say anything until I

         11  take them to court.

         12                 I hope you pass this bill. Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         14                 Who would like to go next?

         15                 MS. ASEM: Good morning. My name is

         16  Stacey Asem. I'm here to testify in favor of Intro.

         17  504. I have been looking for an apartment to

         18  purchase for a long time. I finally found one this

         19  spring all the way on the Upper East Side on East

         20  72nd Street.

         21                 The building has about 400 units. The

         22  apartment I sought to buy was a one bedroom for a

         23  little less than $400,000. With my maintenance and

         24  mortgage, I would have wound up paying less each

         25  month than I currently do for rent.
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          2                 I entered into a contract of sale,

          3  was approved by Wells Fargo Bank for the loan, and

          4  my broker reviewed the application against the

          5  proposed board guidelines.

          6                 I work for an advertising agency and

          7  currently earn in excess of $100,000 per year. My

          8  monthly costs would have been within the guidelines

          9  of the co-op and the liquid and other assets I would

         10  have left over after purchase were also within the

         11  guidelines that the seller's broker explained were

         12  necessary.

         13                 Despite all of this I was rejected,

         14  and I was rejected without even being interviewed. I

         15  was given no reason.

         16                 Still trying to make the deal work,

         17  my lawyer contacted the managing agent and said that

         18  if the finances were an issue, my parents had

         19  committed to making a gift so that the loan would

         20  equal 50 percent of the purchase price. The managing

         21  agent said the board would not reconsider.

         22                 Was I turned down because my last

         23  name is perceived to be Arabic? It's actually Greek.

         24  Or was it because I was a woman? My broker told me

         25  that a man who applied with similar credentials that
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          2  I had was given an interview and subsequently

          3  approved. Unfortunately, my broker is scared of

          4  being retaliated against by the co-op and is not

          5  prepared to come forward on my behalf at this point.

          6                 Finding a home is a serious thing. I

          7  think I should be entitled to find out why the board

          8  said no.

          9                 If there really had been a genuine

         10  problem with my application, I would have worked

         11  hard to fix it.

         12                 Intro. 50 is a matter of simple

         13  fairness and should be passed. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 Who is next?

         17                 MS. ABRAHAM: Good morning. My name is

         18  Naomi Abraham. In 2001 my husband and I arranged to

         19  purchase a co-op in Riverdale. With the help of my

         20  parents, who were also going to be shareholders, we

         21  were going to purchase the apartment for all cash.

         22                 The majority of the cost of the

         23  apartment was being paid with the proceeds of a

         24  house my parents had sold, as stated in our

         25  application. The maintenance, which was about 1,100
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          2  per month, wouldn't have been a problem, the

          3  combined income of my husband and my parents would

          4  have allowed us to afford monthly costs many times

          5  in excess of that figure. In fact, my husband and I

          6  were already paying $600 more in rent than the

          7  maintenance of the new apartment.

          8                 The financial information of both my

          9  husband and I and our parents was provided to the

         10  board. There was more than adequate income and

         11  assets to purchase and maintain the apartment.

         12                 Everything was going well. My husband

         13  and I were actually already renting a

         14  sponsored-owned apartment in the building, there had

         15  never been any complaints about us. The seller had

         16  checked with the board, there was no problem with my

         17  parents being joint shareholders.

         18                 We had provided the board with the

         19  information they had requested and it appeared

         20  everything was going well. Our sense and that of the

         21  seller, a member of the board until a few months

         22  before, that we were going to be approved.

         23                 Then came 9/11. As it happens, my

         24  husband is a US citizen, was born and grew up in

         25  India and is dark skinned. Just weeks after 9/11 we
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          2  were rejected. The board gave us no reason and did

          3  not request any additional information from us.

          4                 The board certainly couldn't have

          5  thought that with almost $400,000 of equity in the

          6  apartment and no loan that we would default on the

          7  1,100 in maintenance.

          8                 Our realtor was surprised, and the

          9  seller, when he heard, he was infuriated and

         10  contacted a member of the board to find out what

         11  went wrong. The board member informally suggested

         12  that we were rejected for financial consideration,

         13  without providing any specifics.

         14                 This made no sense to the seller, as

         15  our financial profile was far stronger than many

         16  others he had seen approved over the three years he

         17  was on the board.

         18                 The difference, according to the

         19  seller, was that those other applicants were white.

         20  He revealed that there had been other occasions when

         21  he had been on the board when other board members

         22  discussed the race of applicants.

         23                 Often they tried to guess the race of

         24  applicants by their name. The building, by the way,

         25  was overwhelmingly white. This was odd, given the
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          2  make-up of the neighborhood, and we found that those

          3  in the building that were not white, like my

          4  husband, were renters in sponsored units.

          5                 With this information we decided to

          6  bring a lawsuit. I don't know whether we would have

          7  proceeded if we hadn't had the unusual situation of

          8  the seller having information about the board's

          9  bias.

         10                 What was perhaps most disgusting is

         11  that in the course of the lawsuit, the co-op or its

         12  lawyers concocted reason after reason why they had

         13  supposedly acted against us. It was all made up, as

         14  our lawyer was able to demonstrate through

         15  depositions of the board members.

         16                 The case was ultimately settled

         17  favorably, but what the case couldn't do was prevent

         18  us from having to leave the building when our rental

         19  was up. It was a building that we had loved, a

         20  building which was convenient to transportation.

         21  This was particularly important to me because I have

         22  a disability that impairs my mobility.

         23                 If I had applied for, but was

         24  rejected, for a loan, I would have been entitled to

         25  find out the reasons for my rejection. A co-op
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          2  rejection should be no different. And doing what

          3  Intro. 504 asks is not that difficult.

          4                 A board obviously knows why it acted.

          5  The only reason the boards don't like to give

          6  reasons are either, one, they commonly enjoy the

          7  idea that their decisions are not subject to

          8  scrutiny; or, two, they want to be able to continue

          9  to maximize their opportunity to evade

         10  responsibility on those occasions where they act

         11  illegally.

         12                 Neither reason is in the public

         13  interest, and I urge you to pass this bill.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 MR. OZIR: Good morning. My name is

         17  Gil Ozir. Earlier this year, I was turned down for a

         18  co-op in a small building in the East Village. The

         19  seller didn't turn me down. He entered into a

         20  contract of sale with me. The bank didn't turn me

         21  down. Citibank gave me a loan commitment. I know it

         22  couldn't have been the money, because when I met

         23  with the co-op board, a member of the board told me

         24  in the course of the interview that there were no

         25  problems with my finances. My suspicion was that
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          2  religion played a role in the turndown. I'm Jewish

          3  and I believe that no one in the building is.

          4                 I filed a complaint with HUD which

          5  was then turned over to the State Division of Human

          6  Rights. The reason that the building gave for

          7  turning me down, that I'm quote/unquote litigious.

          8                 Of course, I wasn't litigious when I

          9  applied. They made the assumption because of the

         10  fact that I went to law school. Unfortunately, it's

         11  not illegal to discriminate under the State Human

         12  Rights Law because of lawful occupational status.

         13                 The funny thing is that the co-op

         14  board probably didn't realize that it is illegal to

         15  discriminate on that basis under the City Human

         16  Rights Law. And I'll have to see whether it's worth

         17  the effort to follow through at this point. In any

         18  event, the apartment is gone.

         19                 It is time to shed some light on this

         20  process. Whether someone gets a home should not

         21  depend on the petty prejudices of board members, but

         22  on whether the person meets the legal standards that

         23  have been established by the building.

         24                 You should not allow co-ops to

         25  continue to cover up the reasons for their actions.
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          2  Compliance with this bill would be easy. Enabling

          3  cover-up is the only reason to oppose disclosure.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 I want to thank everyone. This is

          8  extremely helpful testimony. I think each of your

          9  examples is quite vivid.

         10                 Let me ask a particular question to

         11  Dr. Orris, and then I want to ask a question of the

         12  whole panel.

         13                 Doctor, I am particularly -- I think

         14  all of these cases are troubling, I'm particularly

         15  confused how a co-op board that had such extensive

         16  experience with someone could find a reason to turn

         17  them down.

         18                 And I guess what I'm wondering, first

         19  of all, in your discussions, did you get -- I think

         20  several other folks have had some kind of hint given

         21  of what was really going on. I'm trying to

         22  understand from your testimony, did someone actually

         23  say something that led you to believe it was based

         24  on the ethnic background of your son-in-law?

         25                 DR. ORRIS: Not at all. That's the
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          2  problem.

          3                 In speaking with one of the people

          4  who interviewed us, just I was told this was just be

          5  proforma to see who was moving in. When I mentioned

          6  that could this be the reason, that my son-in-law

          7  was Jamaican, my granddaughter was Guatemalan?  Oh,

          8  no, we don't discriminate in this building.

          9                 Well, basically all the board members

         10  are Caucasian. There are very few non-Caucasians in

         11  the building. Certainly that would seem to be the

         12  only reason that we could think of, that they would

         13  turn me down.

         14                 Now, they couldn't -- the turn down

         15  was to me, to buy the additional apartment. They

         16  could not turn down at least my family from moving

         17  in with me, if I had the ability to have them there.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And was any

         19  answer given? I mean, if it was about the finances,

         20  was any specific answer given?

         21                 DR. ORRIS: No. Absolutely not.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Even people you

         23  had known a long time, and you had been essentially

         24  partners with in this endeavor for many, many years,

         25  couldn't give a specific answer?
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          2                 DR. ORRIS: When I spoke with the

          3  Chairman of the board, with members of the board, it

          4  was we can't talk. We don't talk. We cannot tell you

          5  anything.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me ask

          7  everyone on the panel to talk about the step they

          8  took after the rejection and after not having given

          9  a clear answer.

         10                 Mr. Ozir, you had said you went to

         11  the HUD and then State Commission on Human Rights.

         12  Did you also go to the City Commission on Human

         13  Rights?

         14                 MR. OZIR: No, not yet.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Is that

         16  something you intend to do? How do you feel about

         17  the prospects of that?

         18                 MR. OZIR: I'm thinking about it. You

         19  know, my experience going with through HUD is, you

         20  know, it was a joke, you know? I don't think anybody

         21  really heard me out, or took it seriously. You know,

         22  probably because it's New York and, you know, I'm a

         23  white male, and I don't think anyone just took it

         24  seriously. But, you know, we'll see. We'll see.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Did you have a
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          2  sense going in, and obviously you're a lawyer, but

          3  have you gotten any materials or any information

          4  informing you of your rights in the process that had

          5  been given to you along the way by a realtor or the

          6  co-op board, or anyone to say if there's any

          7  concerns, here's what you do?

          8                 MR. OZIR: No, none at all.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         10                 Dr. Orris, same questions. Did you

         11  pursue anything with the City Commission on Human

         12  Rights or any other government agency?

         13                 DR. ORRIS: No. I've pursued

         14  discussions with legal people, but not with any City

         15  agencies.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Were you aware

         17  that you had the option of going to the City Human

         18  Rights Commission?

         19                 DR. ORRIS: No, I was not.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         21                 I'm sorry.

         22                 MS. ASEM: Stacey Asem.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Stacey.

         24                 MS. ASEM: I actually went to an

         25  anti-discrimination attorney to seek advice, but I
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          2  didn't know there were any City routes that I could

          3  take.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So you were not

          5  told at any point along the way that was an option?

          6                 MS. ASEM: No.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          8                 And Naomi?

          9                 MS. ABRAHAM: I did not go to them.

         10  I'm not sure why I didn't really think about them,

         11  other than I guess if I had thought it, I would have

         12  thought there was a lot of people going there and it

         13  wouldn't had been very quick. I had still an

         14  apartment potentially available and I wanted it

         15  resolved. I wanted to move in. The seller was hoping

         16  that we would move in.

         17                 I was actually in law school at the

         18  time, went to the Public Interest Office, I was

         19  looking at doing public interest work, and I was

         20  given the recommendation of an attorney who might be

         21  able to help me sort it out.

         22                 So, I didn't even really consider

         23  that route.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         25                 DR. ORRIS: May I just add, that I
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          2  think one of the reasons we don't go is that it is a

          3  well-known axiom that boards don't have to tell you

          4  anything. They don't have to talk to you. They don't

          5  have to give any reasons. And so that most of us

          6  would feel that there is no use in going anywhere.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

          8                 Council Member Monserrate.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,

         10  Mr. Chair.

         11                 I really don't have any questions,

         12  just to thank you for your testimony today. You have

         13  outlined somewhat vividly some of the experiences

         14  that I have also spoken to some of my constituents

         15  about, and actually brokers and agents in Queens.

         16  So, I just wanted to say thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I would like to

         18  thank as well. Let me just say, I think in New York

         19  City in particular, more and more people are in a

         20  situation where there's something about them that

         21  might be different. We're a City of immigrants, more

         22  and more people are in couples of different

         23  ethnicities, different backgrounds, and I can

         24  certainly say, I happen to be married to an

         25  African-American woman, and one of our first
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          2  conversations when we talked about marriage, what

          3  would this be like dealing with landlords, dealing

          4  with people we might be trying to buy a home from.

          5  I'm pleased to say in my neighborhood in Park Slope,

          6  Brooklyn, we've never felt that we had that problem,

          7  but we were certainly prepared for it.

          8                 And, so, whatever solutions we find

          9  here, I think that this is a problem that's actually

         10  going to be more prevalent because of the

         11  demographic changes occurring, and those things like

         12  inter-racial marriage are becoming more and more

         13  common. I just want to thank you, all of you, for

         14  your testimony. I think it's been very, very

         15  helpful.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 Okay, our next witness is Barbara

         18  Ford, and I think she will have several of her

         19  colleagues with her, from the New York State

         20  Association of Realtors.

         21                 We welcome you.

         22                 MS. FORD: Good morning, Chairman

         23  DeBlasio, and members of the General Welfare

         24  Committee.

         25                 My name is Barbara Ford. I'm a member
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          2  of the National New York State and Long Island Board

          3  of Realtors. I will be speaking officially on behalf

          4  of the New York State Association of Realtors and

          5  the more than 14,000 members of the New York City

          6  realtors practicing in New York City.

          7                 However, I believe that we are

          8  unofficially speaking on behalf of many thousands of

          9  future home-buyers and sellers who rightfully

         10  deserve a fair process when purchasing or selling a

         11  co-op.

         12                 With me today, and representing their

         13  boards, are Klara Madlin, Kathy McCall, Brooklyn,

         14  Cynthia Crowley, Manhattan, Bridgette Greene,

         15  Queens, Sandy Krueger, Staten Island, Michael

         16  Shapot, Manhattan, Bob Eichner, Brooklyn, and Max

         17  Gurvitch, a State officer with NYSAOR, representing

         18  Brooklyn. Also with us are NYSAOR staff, Duncan

         19  McKenzie, Mike Kelly and NYSAOR staff Randy Kaplan.

         20                 Let me begin by congratulating

         21  Council Member Monserrate, and the co-sponsors of

         22  Intro. 504, for recognizing the need to reform the

         23  process by which cooperative home ownership is

         24  accessed.

         25                 Here in New York City cooperatives
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          2  are often among the most affordable housing

          3  available to prospective buyers. However, it has

          4  been my experience, and that of many other realtors,

          5  that all too often financially qualified buyers

          6  enter the murky co-op application process, only to

          7  feel discriminated against when denied their

          8  preferred housing and a reason for the denial.

          9                 Just like our prior witnesses today,

         10  realtors can provide volumes of anecdotal evidence

         11  that supports the premise that many of these

         12  rejections are, in reality, based upon violations of

         13  local, state and federal Fair Housing laws.

         14                 I teach this course for the State

         15  Association, and can tell you that I consistently

         16  hear from the people attending the course, the

         17  problem that they have in this area.

         18                 We have seen time and time again

         19  where a potential purchaser meets all reasonable

         20  criteria for ownership, has gone through the expense

         21  of obtaining a commitment from a lender, paid for a

         22  lien search, paid legal fees, may have paid an

         23  application fee with the co-op and foregone an

         24  opportunity to renew their current lease, only to be

         25  summarily rejected by the co-op board without any
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          2  explanation.

          3                 As realtors we strongly believe that

          4  home ownership is a basic human right and that the

          5  home-buying process should be transparent,

          6  predictable and fair.

          7                 We are here today because we believe

          8  the process for purchasing a co-op in the City of

          9  New York fails to meet this criteria.

         10                 Intro. 504 takes the important first

         11  step of illuminating an issue that is in need of

         12  reform.

         13                 I have been personally actively

         14  involved in the purchase, sale and management of

         15  co-ops for 22 years. I can say from experience that

         16  the total lack of uniformity in the application and

         17  review process for purchasing shares in a co-op

         18  gives at the very least the appearance of a system

         19  that is rigged, not open and certainly not fair.

         20                 Consumers expect more and you have

         21  the opportunity to provide it.

         22                 Toward that end, we urge Councilman

         23  Monserrate and the full Council to consider a

         24  different approach than Intro. 504. Specifically we

         25  urge the adoption of a bill that would first require
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          2  each individual cooperative board to use a single

          3  uniform application form for all units in that

          4  property, and provide one to any person that

          5  requests it.

          6                 The application form must also

          7  include information on fair housing and

          8  anti-discrimination laws.

          9                 Second, require acknowledgment from

         10  the board that an application has been received

         11  within ten days of the board's receipt of a

         12  completed application. This addresses our concern

         13  and our experience that some boards have simply

         14  ignored applications rather than give them full and

         15  fair consideration.

         16                 Third, establish a 45-day window

         17  during which an application is reviewed and then

         18  accepted or denied. Failure by the board to act

         19  would result in the approval of the proposed

         20  purchaser.

         21                 This is not a new concept and there

         22  is precedent for this under New York law.

         23                 It is important to note that our

         24  proposal -- pardon me. As realtors, we have

         25  experienced situations where some boards simply and
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          2  unfairly hold an application until the prospective

          3  purchaser loses their financing, since obtaining a

          4  commitment is usually a condition precedent to

          5  having an application reviewed.

          6                 This results in a de facto rejection,

          7  without the board actually ever making a decision.

          8                 Imagine going through the often

          9  lengthy process of applying for acceptance by the

         10  board, paying the financing application fees and

         11  search fees, application fee to the board, and then

         12  not getting a decision in a reasonable amount of

         13  time or being declined without any reason being

         14  given. The system is abusive and one that must

         15  change.

         16                 It is important to note that our

         17  proposal does not diminish or repair the proper

         18  exercise of a board's fiduciary duties and its

         19  discretion in making the every day business

         20  decisions for the co-op.

         21                 It creates instead a deterrent which

         22  will help avoid the need to litigate under the Fair

         23  Housing Laws.

         24                 We support the provision in Intro.

         25  504 that a board's denial must be accompanied by an
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          2  explanation as to why the applicant was denied

          3  housing.

          4                 In closing, I want to again express

          5  our thanks to this Committee for focusing on the

          6  need to protect co-op homeowners, home-buyers and

          7  sellers. We urge you to consider the amendments

          8  we've proposed here, and we pledge to work with you

          9  to help create a level playing field in a system now

         10  so unfairly unbalanced in favor of co-op boards to

         11  the detriment of consumers and sellers.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         14  much, Mrs. Ford. First of all, you sound like a true

         15  voice of experience, which we appreciate since we're

         16  trying to gather as much information as possible.

         17                 And second, I appreciate any witness

         18  who comes forward with their own ideas, and specific

         19  proposals. We appreciate that.

         20                 Let me just ask you one thing, before

         21  my colleagues ask their questions.

         22                 If you think about your personal

         23  experience. This is very sort of personal,

         24  impressionistic answer I'm looking for. If you think

         25  about the times that people were turned down that
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          2  surprised you, what do you think it was? How would

          3  you break it down? How much would you say was

          4  personal chemistry, how much do you think was

          5  discrimination, how much do you think was

          6  differences over finances? What do you think in

          7  general you've seen?

          8                 MS. FORD: I will say to you that, as

          9  having owned a property management company, and

         10  having sat in on this process, both as an owner of a

         11  company, and as a designee for sponsors, I can tell

         12  you that the majority of the time the criteria is

         13  fairly applied. But there are numerous instances

         14  that I can tell you where I've personally sat there

         15  and heard people discuss the fact that, well, we can

         16  reject these people because we don't have to give a

         17  reason. Even though their real reason is because

         18  they were black, because it was a single parent, and

         19  for any other numerous reasons, because they were

         20  disabled, and they believe it will increase their

         21  liability insurance, and it only -- it takes

         22  somebody sitting at that same table to reign in

         23  those situations to make them be more responsive and

         24  accountable.

         25                 When a board believes that it doesn't
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          2  have accountability, it's a license to break the

          3  law. When they don't have to explain why this person

          4  is rejected, it gives them time to formulate bogus

          5  reasons if and when they are ever taken to task.

          6                 Most people who know that they are

          7  being discriminated against, we will encourage them

          8  often to bring a suit and they are in the same

          9  position, as I will tell you I'm old enough to

         10  remember this, 40 years ago when people who were

         11  denied housing because of their color, said if they

         12  don't want me, I don't want to go there. I'm hurt by

         13  this, I just want to move on.

         14                 So, the fact that the statistics show

         15  only a small percentage of these cases comes from

         16  the co-op sector, I definitely do not think as a

         17  fair barometer of what is actually going on out

         18  there. I can tell you it's not. My company converted

         19  over a half a billion dollars of this product. I

         20  teach this course and I'm considered an expert by

         21  the Supreme Court in Nassau County on this, and I

         22  can tell you, it definitely is not a situation where

         23  this is a minuscule amount of people who are having

         24  this experience. It's a large number of people.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: One last
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          2  question.

          3                 While you've been in the room in the

          4  middle of that discussion, and someone has talked

          5  about something you regard as discrimination, how is

          6  it played out?

          7                 Have you been in a situation to

          8  actually question someone and why they were saying

          9  that? And what would happen then in the room?

         10                 MS. FORD: I can tell you that as a

         11  property manager when that came up I would

         12  absolutely advise the board that we were not taking

         13  that route, that to take that route was a violation

         14  of Fair Housing laws, and that if they insisted on

         15  it, that we would withdraw as the managing agent,

         16  and I never lost a job. I never had anybody dismiss

         17  us. And they acted appropriately.

         18                 But I will also tell you that I have

         19  sat in a meeting where I am not the managing agent,

         20  and was a sponsored designee, and the managing

         21  agent, who is also an attorney, sat and counseled

         22  the group that we were meeting with that they didn't

         23  have to be careful about their decisions because

         24  just last week in the five towns area of Long

         25  Island, they were able to reject a black couple and
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          2  not give any reason.

          3                 Openly admitted to a conspiracy to

          4  deny somebody their civil rights, which later, not

          5  in concert, in the full meeting I brought up, but it

          6  was done blatantly and without any fear that there

          7  would be a consequence.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I want to thank

          9  you for having a strong conscience and being strong

         10  in your use of it in all of those meetings you've

         11  sat in. And I obviously want to thank you especially

         12  for being here with us publicly and telling us how

         13  things really are in your experience.

         14                 MS. FORD: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

         16  Monserrate.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Mr. Chair,

         18  I just have a question based on some of your

         19  conversations that I have had with brokers and

         20  salespersons.

         21                 Have you heard comments by some of

         22  your colleagues that there were certain co-ops that

         23  they would just not bring certain demographic folks

         24  into?

         25                 MS. FORD: Just within the last three
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          2  months. I have a person who serves on my committee,

          3  a realtor who works in Queens. This realtor had the

          4  following experience: She brought a well-qualified

          5  Pakistani woman, who was by all financial criteria

          6  well equipped to purchase this co-op, a single

          7  woman.

          8                 She got her commitment. She went

          9  before the board. It was rejected, given no reason.

         10                 The same realtor brought in another

         11  candidate, who had almost an identical profile. This

         12  person was also rejected. In that case the president

         13  of the board went to the realtor and said Ms. X,

         14  stop bringing us Pakistanis. We're not letting them

         15  in. This was within the last three months. Not 40

         16  years ago, within the last three months. It happens

         17  all the time. I hear these stories when I teach this

         18  course all the time. And the problem is people don't

         19  pursue this because there is definitely a perception

         20  that because they raised this for any or no reason

         21  we can reject you, the public feels that that's the

         22  end of the conversation. They do not realize that

         23  they can go to the Human Rights Commission or they

         24  can go to HUD and unfortunately I was disappointed

         25  by what the other person said about their experience
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          2  with HUD, they don't know that. They really don't.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: One of the

          4  concerns that has been expressed to me again by some

          5  of the brokers and agents is that they're reluctant

          6  to come public because they won't be able to show

          7  listings in those buildings anymore. Is that

          8  something you heard also?

          9                 MS. FORD: With the person I was just

         10  talking about. The person is a middle-aged woman,

         11  single, supporting herself. It's true that a realtor

         12  can start a cause of action on their own under Fair

         13  Housing Laws because they have a pecuniary interest.

         14  But if you're depending upon your living by working

         15  in a certain community, and it isn't by the way the

         16  sellers who are creating the problem, okay? Usually

         17  these Fair Housing issues has to do with the seller.

         18  They are concerned, of course, that they will be,

         19  that any person that they bring now to any of these

         20  other co-op communities, may be rejected because of

         21  the fact that they have tried to affirm their rights

         22  under Fair Housing laws.

         23                 They're concerned that there will be

         24  a backlash because it's human.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you.
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          2  Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

          4  Brewer.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          6  much. And I've talked about this issue with Cynthia

          7  Crowley several times when we honored her at City

          8  Hall when she became the president in Manhattan.

          9                 My question is, do you have a sense

         10  that this happens in certain buildings?

         11                 In other words, is this a practice

         12  that is prevalent in certain buildings? Obviously,

         13  would not be necessarily one community or another,

         14  it could happen everywhere, but when that happens,

         15  you have to continue working as realtor so you can't

         16  stop working with that building. But is there some

         17  sort of pattern sometimes?

         18                 MS. FORD: I don't know that there's a

         19  pattern. I think it has a lot to do with the fact

         20  that obviously in areas that may be undergoing

         21  change, which was true with traditional housing, you

         22  see it as a more prevalent situation. But you are

         23  also right that it's global. It's not limited to

         24  this area of Queens or that area of Nassau or that

         25  area of Manhattan. It occurs when boards feel that
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          2  they are immune, when they feel they can do these

          3  things with impunity and that no one is going to

          4  make them accountable. And unfortunately, again, you

          5  have situations where sometimes these divisions, as

          6  a board member, are the first positions of power

          7  some of these people have ever held, and sometimes

          8  they exercise without discretion, and in turn, end

          9  up violating the law.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         11                 The other thing is, on the State

         12  level, has this issue come up? Because obviously we

         13  would be legislating for the five boroughs and

         14  there's a whole other process through the State

         15  Legislature. Has this come up through your wonderful

         16  lobbying apparatus in Albany?

         17                 MS. FORD: Yes, it has.

         18                 We currently have had over a number

         19  of years bills that have been submitted. The most

         20  recent by State Senator Michael Belbone, and some of

         21  the recommendations that we made today are those,

         22  are parts of that bill.

         23                 We have actually had an experience

         24  where we had the bill approved by the Assembly and

         25  were unable to get it through the State Senate.
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          2                 We are also trying to start

          3  initiatives on a federal level.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right. And

          5  then, finally, have you had conversations along

          6  these lines, I know we'll hear from them shortly,

          7  with the Council of New York Co-Ops or the

          8  Federation? Obviously they have, you know, workshops

          9  and ongoing conferences year-after-year; have you

         10  been part of those discussions?

         11                 MS. FORD: We have actually within, I

         12  believe it was the last 12 to 15 months, we had a

         13  meeting with them and they are not of the same

         14  opinion as we are.

         15                 Generally their reason for not

         16  supporting it is that their view is there are

         17  substantial laws out there now, Fair Housing Laws,

         18  use them.

         19                 I think the problem with that is, as

         20  I explained, people are reluctant to use them, don't

         21  know that they can use them, but we think the better

         22  solution is to create the deterrent. We don't want

         23  to clog up the courts with all kinds of fair housing

         24  litigations and causes of action. We would much

         25  prefer that we create a deterrent so that that's
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          2  unnecessary and boards believe that they will be

          3  accountable. It won't solve the problem, but we

          4  certainly believe that we will make great headway in

          5  stopping the practice.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

          7                 MS. FORD: You're welcome.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very,

          9  very much. It was extremely helpful testimony. We

         10  really appreciate everything you've done.

         11                 MS. FORD: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         13                 Next witnesses, we have a panel of

         14  three witnesses. Marolyn Davenport of REBNY; Mary

         15  Ann Rothman, of the Council of New York Co-Ops and

         16  Condominiums; and Greg Carlson, the Federation of

         17  New York Housing Co-Ops.

         18                 I think we're missing one panelist.

         19                 MS. ROTHMAN: She's on her way.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Better

         21  late than never, right?

         22                 All right. Thank you very much for

         23  being here with us. And who would like to begin?

         24                 MS. ROTHMAN: Marolyn would begin.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Marolyn will
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          2  begin. We'll stall for time.

          3                 MS. ROTHMAN: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Can you believe

          5  the Mets. What happened to the Mets this year? Okay,

          6  we're back now.

          7                 We welcome your testimony.

          8                 MS. DAVENPORT: Thank you. I'm Marolyn

          9  Davenport from the Real Estate Board of New York,

         10  which is more than hundred-year-old organization

         11  representing nearly 11,000 owners, brokers and

         12  managers of real property, including 7,000

         13  residential brokers and sales people.

         14                 We strongly oppose this bill. I've

         15  got to catch my breath from running.

         16                 This bill is a gift to the trial bar,

         17  as its only impact will be to substantially increase

         18  litigation. It will not benefit our housing market,

         19  quite the contrary. It will have a chilling affect

         20  in the marketplace.

         21                 Cooperatives are a highly popular

         22  form of home ownership in New York, comprising more

         23  than 360,000 households who own shares in a

         24  cooperative corporation which holds title to the

         25  building.
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          2                 The corporation is governed by a

          3  Board of Directors, which like any corporate board

          4  has substantial, fiduciary and legal

          5  responsibilities.

          6                 Recent court decisions have uniformly

          7  upheld the board's right to make decisions on

          8  governing the corporation in privacy, applying the

          9  business judgment rule which prohibits judicial

         10  inquiry into actions of corporate directors, taken

         11  in good faith and in the lawful and legitimate

         12  conduct of the corporation affairs.

         13                 These cases repeatedly affirm that

         14  unless you can show bad faith discrimination or

         15  illegality, an owner who is unhappy with the board

         16  decision cannot obtain judicial review. This bill

         17  completely contravenes that principle by requiring

         18  boards to document their decisions in detail.

         19                 Discrimination by boards is expressly

         20  forbidden in City, State and Federal law. Currently,

         21  under the City Human rights Law, the New York State

         22  Civil Rights Law, and the Fair Housing Act,

         23  cooperative boards are prohibited from

         24  discriminating against a potential buyer on the

         25  basis of race, color, national origin, religion,
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          2  sex, familial status, military status, sexual

          3  orientation, age, pregnancy or disability.

          4                 There are remedies within all of

          5  these statutes and there are procedures for bringing

          6  complaints to New York City's Human Rights -- the

          7  New York City Human Rights Commission, to HUD's

          8  Office of Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity, or to

          9  the courts. Intro. 504 does not add anything to

         10  these protections. They're already there.

         11                 When it receives a complaint, the

         12  Human Rights Commission, as they testified, does an

         13  exhaustive investigation. The co-op which turns down

         14  a buyer has to prove it did not discriminate, rather

         15  than the other way around.

         16                 Responsible co-op boards, which are

         17  by far the vast majority of boards are well aware of

         18  this and are very careful in their review of

         19  applications and think twice before turning any

         20  buyer down. In fact, the vast majority of potential

         21  buyers are approved.

         22                 However, many luxury buildings do

         23  indeed have stringent financial requirements. Some

         24  buildings do not want the paparazzi that follow

         25  certain celebrities. It is because they have the
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          2  right to set such standards, that people buy co-ops

          3  in the first place.

          4                 This legislation simply invites

          5  massive litigation whenever a buyer is rejected and

          6  undermines the legitimate rights of cooperatives to

          7  set certain standards for buyers.

          8                 We question the City Council's

          9  authority to pass this bill. There is a

         10  well-established body of state common law upholding

         11  the rights of co-op buyers to disapprove apartment

         12  transfers to prospective purchasers with or without

         13  reason, provided that anti-discrimination laws are

         14  not violated. These cases go back to 1959.

         15                 Scores of court decisions have upheld

         16  these principles, which are also part of the

         17  constitutional documents of many co-op corporations.

         18                 Passage of this bill will

         19  significantly delay transactions, an outcome that is

         20  to no one's benefit, as boards work and rework their

         21  rejection letters.

         22                 Before issuing a rejection, a board

         23  will most certainly ask their lawyer for a letter, a

         24  process fraught with delay, and may even keep units

         25  where a complaint has been made off the market for
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          2  months or years, while the complaint is being

          3  resolved.

          4                 Even one instance where an owner

          5  cannot move ahead to sell his apartment because the

          6  prior buyer was rejected, would most certainly chill

          7  the co-op market.

          8                 One of the most unfortunate, but

          9  absolutely certain outcomes of this legislation,

         10  will be to discourage responsible qualified

         11  volunteers from serving on co-op boards. As it is,

         12  serving on a co-op board is a thankless task.

         13                 This bill, by raising the threat of

         14  lawsuit so dramatically, and particularly by

         15  requiring personal certification by each board

         16  member, will make it much harder to recruit

         17  qualified board members.

         18                 With well over 300,000 households

         19  living in co-ops, it is bad public policy to

         20  discourage able board members from agreeing to

         21  serve. We urge you not to pass this bill.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         23                 Who else would like to go next?

         24                 MS. ROTHMAN: Good morning, Chairman

         25  DeBlasio and members of the Committee. I am Mary Ann
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          2  Rothman, Executive Director of the Council of New

          3  York Cooperatives and Condominiums. We're a

          4  membership organization providing information,

          5  education and advocacy for more than 200 housing

          6  cooperatives which are the homes of approximately

          7  200,000 New York families.

          8                 I also speak today on behalf of a

          9  sister organization, the Coordinating Council of

         10  Cooperatives, which serves a membership of tens of

         11  thousands of families living in large housing

         12  cooperatives built for low, moderate and

         13  middle-income New York families.

         14                 The Coordinating Council has also

         15  submitted its own written testimony. Our two

         16  organizations strongly oppose Intro. 504. We

         17  appreciate this opportunity to explain our position,

         18  and to point out to the Committee the many possible,

         19  unintended consequences of this legislation, and the

         20  adverse impact that it's likely to have on the

         21  optimal efficiency of the housing market, and on the

         22  people of New York.

         23                 Housing cooperatives have been a part

         24  of our City for more than 100 years. They have

         25  always been the homes of New Yorkers at every level
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          2  of the economic spectrum, and social spectrum. They

          3  often provide people's first opportunity at home

          4  ownership. But applying to purchase a cooperative is

          5  a commitment in itself.

          6                 Perspective purchasers should

          7  understand they're applying to become members of the

          8  community and to take an active part in the life of

          9  that community.

         10                 This does not stop at being able to

         11  pay or willing pay the carrying charges timely, nor

         12  even at following the rules. Housing cooperatives

         13  are governed by volunteer boards of directors

         14  elected from among the shareholders at an annual

         15  meeting. Every shareholder has the opportunity to

         16  run for election to this governing board, to serve

         17  on committees or accept other commitments that help

         18  run the cooperative and make it into a community.

         19                 Many buildings do hire management

         20  personnel to run the day-to-day affairs of their

         21  cooperatives, but many others are self managed and

         22  their shareholders have to take on the many tasks

         23  necessary to keeping their buildings clean, safe,

         24  well run and in compliance with requisite laws.

         25                 From their earliest advent, housing
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          2  cooperatives have had the right and the

          3  responsibility of learning about prospective

          4  purchasers and determining whether or not to allow

          5  them admittance to the cooperative.

          6                 It's important to be able to

          7  determine that a prospective purchaser will be a

          8  partner in the maintaining of the building and

          9  ensuring a safe, comfortable and congenial

         10  community, will be clearly able to meet the

         11  financial obligations of ownership, that they

         12  understand and be ready to accept their

         13  responsibilities as shareholders, as well.

         14                 In smaller self-managed cooperatives,

         15  it's vital that every shareholder do their part in

         16  properly sorting the garbage sharing, and cleaning

         17  the building, shoveling the snow, sweeping the

         18  sidewalks, filing appropriate permits, tax forms,

         19  inspection forms, and seeing the building equipment

         20  is well maintained. In every cooperative, all

         21  shareholders must follow building rules, respect

         22  their neighbors and every shareholder should be

         23  willing to serve their cooperative as a board member

         24  or committee member.

         25                 In short, a potential purchaser must
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          2  demonstrate and be judged upon personal commitment,

          3  as well as wherewithal.

          4                 Decades of case law confirm the right

          5  of housing cooperatives to make these admissions

          6  decisions and protect their right not to give

          7  reasons for rejection.

          8                 Federal, state and City human rights

          9  laws prohibit discrimination in housing and

         10  currently designate 11 protected categories under

         11  which claims can be brought. Actually, military

         12  status would be a 12th. If a prospective purchaser

         13  feels they're rejected due to discrimination because

         14  of their age, their gender, their race, their

         15  religion, their creed, the country from which they

         16  come, a disability, because of their marital status

         17  or sexual orientation, whether or not they have

         18  children, or because their lawful occupation, they

         19  have recourse today.

         20                 Most cooperatives exercise their

         21  right to decide who will live in their cooperative

         22  most judiciously. They're well aware of the

         23  disruption and dismay that is caused by the

         24  rejection of a prospective purchaser, and a history

         25  of rejections clearly brands a building as a place
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          2  for brokers to shun. Thus, it lowers the value of

          3  apartments in such a building.

          4                 The very strong and harsh terms of

          5  Intro. 504 might lead one to believe that rejections

          6  are a frequent occurrence. In fact, they are rare

          7  and occur most frequently when the finances of the

          8  prospective purchaser don't meet the criteria of the

          9  cooperative.

         10                 A good broker will help clients

         11  analyze their capacity and help them find units

         12  where they're qualified to become shareholders.

         13                 Intro. 503 gives standing to less

         14  scrupulous brokers who take less care, and it

         15  invites them to sue cooperatives for commissions

         16  lost.

         17                 This is likely to impede the optimal

         18  efficiency of the housing market, rather than

         19  relieve it.

         20                 Intro. 503 also sets very tight time

         21  frames requiring not only that reasons be enumerated

         22  and attested to, but that the source of negative

         23  information be disclosed, and it imposes extremely

         24  harsh penalties on cooperatives.

         25                 But the information on which
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          2  cooperatives makes decisions consists of information

          3  provided by the prospective purchaser, their

          4  financial documentation, their letters of reference

          5  and job information, or information retrieved

          6  through the investigations to which the purchaser

          7  agrees in submitting an application to purchase the

          8  cooperative apartment, and it's further based on

          9  their responses in the admissions interview, where

         10  the cooperative's rules are normally explained and

         11  expectations are set forth for the participation of

         12  the perspective purchasing shareholder in the life

         13  of the cooperative.

         14                 Will the explanation that the

         15  candidate made it clear that they have no interest

         16  in helping to run the cooperative be an acceptable

         17  reason for rejection?

         18                 Will references, employers, previous

         19  landlords or boards, previous landlords or boards be

         20  reluctant to provide information if they know they

         21  may be cited as a source for a rejection?

         22                 Intro. 504 provides rejected

         23  applicants, sellers and their brokers, called proper

         24  parties, with an additional 60-day period to

         25  approach the Human Rights Commission for an
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          2  adjudicatory determination to be made within another

          3  60 days as to whether the cooperative has failed to

          4  comply with the proposed law. This is what the

          5  representative from the Human Rights Commission

          6  objected to also. Costs, attorneys' fees and

          7  punitive damages are also mentioned.

          8                 Not mentioned is the additional delay

          9  in selling the apartment, if, for example, it's the

         10  broker who initiates these proceedings.

         11                 The complicated and detailed

         12  requirement set forth in Intro. 504 will undoubtedly

         13  have a freezing affect on the willingness of

         14  shareholders to volunteer their time to serve on

         15  their boards or their admissions committees.

         16                 This legislation is disruptive and

         17  detrimental to a way of life that people have

         18  chosen.

         19                 The Council of New York Cooperatives

         20  and Condominiums and the Coordinating Council of

         21  Cooperatives respectfully urge this Committee not to

         22  pass Intro. 504.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         24  much for your testimony. And now Mr. Carlson.

         25                 MR. CARLSON: Good day, Chairperson
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          2  DeBlasio and members of the Committee.

          3                 I just want to say that the two

          4  testimonies on either side of me were excellent and

          5  detailed. I will be very brief, okay?

          6                 I am Gregory Carlson, the Executive

          7  Director of the Federation of New York Housing

          8  Cooperatives and Condominiums. The Federation is a

          9  not-for-profit membership association. Our

         10  membership includes approximately 600 buildings,

         11  representing approximately 150,000 units of

         12  cooperative and condominium housing.

         13                 The cooperative movement have been

         14  around for a few hundred years. The Rochdale

         15  Principles are the guiding force behind the

         16  cooperative movement. The first principle,

         17  "Cooperatives are voluntary organizations, open to

         18  all persons able to use their services and willing

         19  to accept..." and I emphasize "... responsibilities

         20  of membership, without gender, social, racial,

         21  political or religious discrimination."

         22                 This principle holds true in today's

         23  cooperative housing. A shareholder is a member of

         24  that community.

         25                 As a member, their responsibilities
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          2  are far more than paying the maintenance, following

          3  the house rules, but an obligation to participate on

          4  the Board of Directors or on the Committee

          5  established by the board, or merely by participating

          6  in the well-being of that cooperative.

          7                 While professional management

          8  companies run most co-ops, a significant number are

          9  self-managed, and in these cases, the cooperative

         10  needs all members to participate in order for the

         11  cooperative to survive.

         12                 Please note all of what I said above

         13  is on a voluntary basis.

         14                 If the potential purchaser believes

         15  he or she was discriminated against based on all of

         16  the protected classes, established in New York City,

         17  the potential purchasers already have a remedy with

         18  the courts, with the Human Rights Commission, to

         19  bring their issue to light.

         20                 With Intro. 504 adding burdensome

         21  regulations to an already overburdened cooperative,

         22  the detailed steps that would need to be taken would

         23  prolong any subsequent sale of the unit for a period

         24  of time. It would give an air of uncertainty to the

         25  purchaser, seller and, quote, the proper party,
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          2  which I look at as the broker.

          3                 The real estate brokers' industry is

          4  a fine industry. The brokers are of the highest

          5  caliber working with cooperatives and their boards

          6  to provide the best potential purchasers for each

          7  cooperative.

          8                 As with any industry, you have

          9  unscrupulous members who, under this bill, could tie

         10  up a cooperative unit, hold it for ransom, and if

         11  that particular broker were paid by the cooperative,

         12  either in all or in part of his or her commission, I

         13  suspect this problem will go away.

         14                 The Federation of New York Housing

         15  Cooperatives and Condominiums respectively urges

         16  this Committee not to pass Intro. 504. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         18  much for your testimony. I would like to just also

         19  note, as was mentioned earlier, we're going to have

         20  placed in the official record the testimony from the

         21  Coordinating Council of Cooperatives for Mr. Yager.

         22                 Let me affirm I think a couple of

         23  things that were said here are very, very important.

         24  And let me say I'm someone who represents a

         25  community that has a very significant number of
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          2  co-ops. I think we're talking about a situation here

          3  where none of us wants to have a chilling affect on

          4  the market. And I think we're talking about a

          5  situation here that we all understand that the vast

          6  majority of people involved in this process are

          7  people of goodwill. I don't think anyone doubts

          8  whether it's members of co-op boards or realtors or

          9  people seeking to purchase. And I'm sure you know, I

         10  think your work involves a close understanding of

         11  the human condition, as does ours. I think we're by

         12  definition dealing here with folks who unfortunately

         13  may not be doing things the way that the original

         14  principals dictated.

         15                 So the question I have is, do you

         16  feel, and I ask this to any and all members of this

         17  panel, do you feel that the boards and the potential

         18  purchasers have been sufficiently educated in the

         19  area of non-discrimination?

         20                 Because it was striking to me on the

         21  panel of folks in the beginning who had experienced

         22  difficulties, that at least those four folks clearly

         23  have not had a clear sense of how to proceed if they

         24  had a problem. But I would imagine the testimony

         25  from the realtors points out that the more we could
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          2  do to educate, and this is an overview point. It's

          3  relative to this legislative but it's also beyond

          4  it. The more we could do to educate, the more chance

          5  we have of avoiding these problems to begin with,

          6  but it doesn't sound like there's necessarily a

          7  coherent enough education effort for any of these

          8  pieces of the puzzle. So, what is your thought on

          9  that?

         10                 MS. ROTHMAN: We try. We try very

         11  hard, the Council of New York Cooperatives and the

         12  Federation each have extensive educational

         13  offerings, but it's very difficult to persuade

         14  people to come.

         15                 I have hundreds of thousands of

         16  members, or boards of directors, of tens of

         17  thousands of member cooperatives, you offer a

         18  seminar and you're very lucky to fill a room with 30

         19  or 40 people.

         20                 It strikes me that it might make

         21  sense to develop a small document that brokers could

         22  be encouraged to distribute to their clients and

         23  that might perhaps be included in co-op application

         24  forms. But tremendous effort goes on to educate.

         25  It's hard to bring people there.
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          2                 MS. DAVENPORT: I would just add to

          3  that, as I mentioned, we represent over 70,000

          4  residential real estate brokers, and the brokers

          5  themselves are very well educated, it's a required

          6  part of the licensing process.

          7                 I think that, as we saw in the

          8  testimony, that there may need to be more public

          9  education where buyers are educated. But I think

         10  co-op boards, I can't say speak to that. I get so

         11  much trade press, obviously, for co-ops that it

         12  seems like they should be, if they read all of this

         13  stuff. And I know Mary Ann and Greg do a lot, but I

         14  think they are people of goodwill, the vast majority

         15  are trying very, very hard to do the right thing.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me ask you

         17  one other question. I know my colleagues have

         18  questions. So, what has been done, what can be done?

         19  Again, I'm referring to this legislation, but I'm

         20  also speaking beyond this legislation. What is this

         21  industry, if you'll forgive the phrase, doing to

         22  police itself when there are problems?

         23                 So, let me give you an example. Say

         24  you have a building that you, as advocates for the

         25  industry, are uncomfortable with. You see a
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          2  recurring pattern. You see practices you don't like,

          3  and it's even coming back to you from board members

          4  or realtors or applicants, what can you do to

          5  self-police? Or what have you done to self-police?

          6                 MS. ROTHMAN: I field a lot of phone

          7  calls and a lot of e-mails from unhappy

          8  shareholders. Sometimes because they feel that the

          9  board doesn't sufficiently inform them. Sometimes

         10  because they feel the board isn't sufficiently

         11  accessible, sometimes because they hate the way the

         12  lobby was just redecorated. And a consistent message

         13  is to remind people that complaining truly isn't

         14  enough. They can become part of the solution by

         15  getting together with their neighbors, by organizing

         16  to run for the board themselves or to elect

         17  candidates committed either to more openness and

         18  giving information to shareholders or committed to,

         19  you know, blue in the lobby, not green.

         20                 It takes a tremendous amount of time

         21  to serve on a co-op board or even on a committee,

         22  and people, for the most part, would rather

         23  complain.

         24                 In Queens the Borough President's

         25  Office has a very, very strong housing office
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          2  started by Clare Shulman, that does take a giant

          3  step, more than anyone else I know of, in trying to

          4  deal very specifically on-site with problems.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me just

          6  hone the question a little, again, I'll be quick.

          7                 You as professionals see a particular

          8  building, you get one complaint, you get two

          9  complaints, you get three complaints, and it's

         10  about, let's just talk about discrimination now,

         11  people saying from whatever point in the process,

         12  realtors, let's assume again scrupulous realtors, or

         13  applicants or board members or even residents of the

         14  building. You're getting feedback that there may be

         15  a particular problem.

         16                 What can you do as a trusted enforcer

         17  in the industry, or what can you do to bring in

         18  government entities to deal with the problem?

         19                 MS. DAVENPORT: If I may?

         20                 We also represent most of the major,

         21  certainly in Manhattan, virtually all of the major

         22  management companies that manage co-ops and work

         23  closely with the board.

         24                 In terms of specific complaints about

         25  specific buildings, we would do two things. If we

                                                            81

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  got the complaint, we would refer them to the Human

          3  Rights Commission or to HUD, or also if there were a

          4  broker issue to the State Licensing Department.

          5                 At the same time, with our management

          6  group, we do talk about this issue. We have had the,

          7  I may boggle the name a little, but I think it's

          8  called the open housing center, and we have

          9  distributed their literature. They have done

         10  workshops. So, our goal has been to educate the

         11  managers to educate the board.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You had

         13  something to add, or not?

         14                 MS. ROTHMAN: No. We are a membership

         15  organization, so we have no enforcement power

         16  whatsoever. But, again, were it a member a building

         17  that were being complained about, we would try to

         18  talk to representatives that we know, and

         19  management. Management is often an excellent source

         20  of helping the board learn a little more about what

         21  they need to know.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         23                 Council Member Monserrate.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Ms.

         25  Rothman, that's you? I'm sorry. Ms. Davenport. I
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          2  apologize.

          3                 You just testified about in response

          4  to the Chairman's question about self-enforcement or

          5  self-policing and part of your testimony included

          6  that one of the things that your organization could

          7  do is also make a report to HUD; is that correct? If

          8  you believe that there was a problem.

          9                 MS. DAVENPORT: If a person called us

         10  with a complaint about a building, we would

         11  certainly tell them to go to HUD, to go to Civil

         12  Rights, I mean the Human Rights Commission.

         13                 I might add, because we represent the

         14  managing agent, we would also, you know, we have

         15  from time to time gone to the managing agent and

         16  said, you know, you should look into it.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: How many

         18  times has your organization done that? Specifically

         19  to the managing agent, or to the Board of Directors?

         20                 MS. DAVENPORT: I'm not sure I know.

         21  Remember, we are a membership organization. So, we

         22  try to, frankly, deal with our members.

         23                 I can say for myself, I can't say for

         24  other staff people, the calls they have had, but I

         25  certainly think for myself, I've probably -- and it
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          2  hasn't been a complaint about discrimination, I

          3  might add, but there have been complaints about

          4  particular buildings taking a long time, not

          5  granting an interview, and I probably a handful of

          6  times had the complaint, and I have always made a

          7  referral.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: If anyone

          9  on the panel can tell me, how many turndowns are

         10  there in co-op buildings? A ball park figure or?

         11                 MS. ROTHMAN: I couldn't possibly give

         12  a universal ball park figure, though I would like to

         13  look into it. I would be very interested in the

         14  realtor's view on this. But last night at the

         15  meeting of my board, we had two attorneys present.

         16  One has a client base of 300 cooperative buildings,

         17  the other has 75. So, anecdotally, in the last year,

         18  from 375 co-op clients, they said no more than a

         19  dozen instances where the co-op considered rejecting

         20  someone, and both attorneys had their buildings

         21  absolutely instructed first call and let's discuss

         22  this.

         23                 So, a maximum of a dozen

         24  considerations of rejection. The piece of the

         25  equation I don't have is what the number of
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          2  applicants overall were there, and that's the piece

          3  of the equation we asked them to look into.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay, I'm

          5  not sure. I think it was Mr. Carlson, in the course

          6  of your testimony you talked about the fact that

          7  there currently is in place different remedies

          8  available to those who feel that they were harmed,

          9  either through the Commission, or to HUD or to the

         10  State Division. Don't you think that it would

         11  probably be even more cost effective for someone to

         12  receive a response as to why they were denied or

         13  rejected prior to having to retain an attorney or

         14  exhaust the City resources as testified by the

         15  Commission to try to get a reason why they were

         16  rejected?

         17                 MR. CARLSON: I think what you're

         18  adding onto is a very burdensome obligation of the

         19  board, because most likely you're going to incur

         20  costs to that particular board, because if they're

         21  going to have a rejection letter, it's most likely

         22  going to go through the cooperative's attorney. And

         23  part of the legislation also requires a three-year

         24  history to be provided.

         25                 I'm quite sure not every co-op has
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          2  that three-year history, so it becomes a very

          3  overburdened -- especially the ones that they may

          4  have rejected and now because there is new federal

          5  law credit used there, they're telling you you have

          6  to destroy all your credit information. So, many of

          7  that may be lost.

          8                 Also, in addition, you don't need an

          9  attorney to go to the Human Rights Commission.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Right. Let

         11  me say the following. I want to follow up again on

         12  this question. I'm trying to get a little more

         13  clarity on your position.

         14                 Let's take all the other issues to

         15  the side for the moment, three years defines the

         16  other timetables.

         17                 I want to just speak to you

         18  specifically about one item; and that is, that in

         19  the course of their deliberations, the co-op board

         20  amongst themselves makes a decision. They decided

         21  that Mr. X doesn't meet, let's go with financial

         22  criteria, to purchase and to be a cooperator here in

         23  this building.

         24                 Why would you again be -- explain to

         25  me why in those very specific set of circumstances,
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          2  why a board has come together and made a decision

          3  not give -- moving away from the legislation and the

          4  legality -- the basic courtesy of explaining to

          5  somebody why they were rejected, if there was a

          6  financial issue or another issue, giving them the

          7  opportunity to correct or to make --

          8                 MS. ROTHMAN: I think --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Let me

         10  finish my statement, Ma'am, please.

         11                 Were to perhaps correct something in

         12  their credit report to ensure that the next time

         13  that they apply at a co-op board, that they would be

         14  accepted? Why would we not want to do this?

         15                 MS. ROTHMAN: If you will permit me,

         16  I'd like to back up a step.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Yes.

         18                 MS. ROTHMAN: I think the vast

         19  majority of cooperatives check out the financials

         20  and will call someone who has marginal problems, or

         21  conceivably has problems, or who has information

         22  that isn't clear to them. So that on the financial

         23  issues, usually there's quite a bit of give and take

         24  to assure the co-op that this is someone who meets

         25  their financial criteria before they invite them to
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          2  an interview. Because if someone literally doesn't

          3  meet the criteria, you will perhaps suggest that

          4  they can take a bank loan, get a gift from parents,

          5  friends, of whatever, or escrow six months' or a

          6  year's maintenance because they're young and

          7  starting out and just have their job for eight

          8  months. You know, whatever the reason and the

          9  explanation, you would try to work with people on

         10  the financials before bringing them into an

         11  interview. And if the financials are impossible,

         12  there isn't a good reason to proceed to an

         13  interview, because we must have people able to carry

         14  their weight in the co-op. So, it's unusual for

         15  financial questions not to have been raised and

         16  normally solved before you come to an interview.

         17  Where you're going to talk about the rules of the

         18  co-op, where you're going to find out a little bit

         19  about the person, whether they're understanding of

         20  co-op rules, whether they have time to give, whether

         21  they might run the Halloween party because the

         22  person who has been doing it for the last ten years

         23  is tired, and if in the course of the interview, a

         24  tiny building, a seven-unit building, learned that

         25  this person travels 300 days of the year and
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          2  certainly doesn't plan to help cleaning the basement

          3  of the co-op on those other days, they might be

          4  inclined to reject them.

          5                 But with all due respect, the

          6  building that says they reject Pakistanis, that

          7  quietly says to a broker don't bring more

          8  Pakistanis, is going to craft some other reason if

          9  they're forced to give reasons. So, I don't think

         10  it's productive to force cooperatives to relinquish

         11  a privilege that they've had for more than 100

         12  years. I think when carefully investigated you'll

         13  see it's a very, very small percentage of

         14  cooperatives that abuse this privilege.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: So when

         16  you speak about the fact that, let's say to the bad

         17  co-op boards, because we know most of them are good,

         18  right? I would tend to believe that, that's my

         19  belief, but let's say there are some that aren't as

         20  nice as you nice folks, and folks that you work

         21  closely with, and you said that those, that co-op

         22  board who didn't want Pakistanis living in their

         23  building, co-op building, would craft some reason as

         24  to not accept this Pakistani person from purchasing

         25  in their building, wouldn't the requirement to have
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          2  them disclose a reason not assist this individual

          3  who clearly was discriminated against in

          4  demonstrating how he was discriminated against, and

          5  that perhaps someone prepared under a different

          6  pretext, crafted this reason for rejection?

          7                 MS. ROTHMAN: I think that the New

          8  York City Commission on Human Rights has a long and

          9  successful history of conducting wonderful in-depth

         10  investigations and would depose the members of the

         11  board and put upon them the affirmative obligation

         12  of proving that they didn't discriminate if someone

         13  went to the Commission saying I understand I am the

         14  second person of Pakistani origin to have applied to

         15  this building. I think my financial credentials are

         16  in order.

         17                 I think, as Ms. Davenport suggested,

         18  this legislation is an invitation to lawyers in so

         19  many different ways, and the lawyer for the co-op

         20  would have been called upon to find some substitute

         21  reason.

         22                 So, I think the weaponry exists for

         23  people who were members of a particular category and

         24  who were discriminated against, or believe they were

         25  discriminated against for those reasons, to get
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          2  satisfaction.

          3                 I think that the ability to decide

          4  who will live within your building is an inherent

          5  ability of cooperatives. There are other forms of

          6  housing that people can choose, but we need people

          7  in co-ops who will work with the co-op, who will

          8  consider themselves a part of the community and who

          9  are willing to subject themselves to this scrutiny

         10  and have future neighbors subjected to the same.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         12                 Council Member Monserrate, I just

         13  want to say so much assistance has come to our

         14  office from Mary Ann Rothman and the work that we do

         15  is really only -- is helped extensively, because we

         16  do get a lot of calls along the lines, not so much

         17  of discrimination on the West Side but certainly

         18  unhappy shareholders and we work together.

         19                 The question is this: Do most or all

         20  of the co-ops in the City of New York belong to one

         21  or both of your Councils/federation?

         22                 MS. ROTHMAN: Alas, no. Not yet.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But that might

         24  be part of the issue.

         25                 In other words, we have no knowledge
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          2  to know if the individuals who spoke here are

          3  members or not, but it is my experience from other

          4  areas and fields that those who are part of an

          5  organization, and, you know, feel that they are

          6  getting some education and there is a process and

          7  they should follow it.

          8                 So, maybe one of, certainly people

          9  have to join, as owners are supposed to, if you are

         10  rent stabilized, and so maybe we should think about

         11  that, that people should have to be owners, that

         12  would make you very happy. But it also would help

         13  with the education format.

         14                 I must admit, from many calls, from

         15  shareholders, now I'm beginning to wonder if some of

         16  the calls we're getting from buildings that are or

         17  are not members, I have no way of knowing. But I do

         18  think that is something that we should think about.

         19                 Because I would assume, I don't know,

         20  that members who are not part of an organization,

         21  are not getting any education. And, yes, they may

         22  have an attorney. Yes, they may have a managing

         23  agent, but all of that is not the kind of education

         24  that I'm talking about. So, I think that's something

         25  that you should consider.
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          2                 And then the second question I have

          3  is, do you know for a fact what -- in other words,

          4  we heard from many individuals that there wasn't

          5  knowledge about the City's Human Rights Commission,

          6  and I think it was universal from the speakers who

          7  spoke here today.

          8                 So, my question is, do you -- you

          9  know, for those who are members and who partake in

         10  your education and who do read your wonderful

         11  newsletter, does the process that the Human Rights

         12  Commission proposes, is that something that's part

         13  of your education?

         14                 Obviously those who apply don't read

         15  the literature, but it would seem to me at the very

         16  least, whether this bill comes to pass or not, that

         17  those who are members, given the fact that it is a

         18  diverse society, that it is changing, that

         19  discrimination should never take place, that at

         20  least the co-op board should have in its possession

         21  a piece of paper that says as they reject somebody.

         22  There are other avenues for you, and this is one,

         23  i.e., the City's Human Rights Commission. Is that

         24  something that ever comes up? Obviously you would

         25  feel, you know, that's not a hiring of a lawyer, but
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          2  it would seem to me that's a government agency that

          3  could be of assistance. Is that something that has

          4  ever been discussed?

          5                 MS. ROTHMAN: Are you suggesting that

          6  the board, that a cooperative be asked when

          7  rejecting someone include in the letter that they

          8  have avenues for challenging this?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I do, that are

         10  not -- in other words, there's a government

         11  opportunity. It's not a litigious, you know, it's

         12  not a legal costly remedy. I'm just saying that

         13  there is an issue here that has to be addressed. And

         14  I believe that there are perhaps more than four

         15  people that have experienced this, the situation.

         16  I'm just trying to think of some non-controversial,

         17  non-expensive remedies.

         18                 MS. ROTHMAN: I am virtually certain

         19  that no cooperative includes that information in a

         20  rejection letter.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         22  Something to think about.

         23                 MS. ROTHMAN: Right.

         24                 But I think if brokers could develop

         25  information and share that with their clients, and
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          2  if it happened as the early part of the seeking

          3  process, it wouldn't sound so threatening and awful.

          4  You know, here are things that might happen, here is

          5  a lot of good information, keep it somewhere. Not,

          6  oh, you poor thing, you've been rejected. Wait. Let

          7  me find that piece of paper that tells you what to

          8  do.

          9                 So, maybe if at the outset of showing

         10  a property --

         11                 MS. DAVENPORT: I would just add to

         12  that, because I think most brokerage offices have a

         13  stack of Fair Housing brochures.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That's HUD.

         15                 MS. DAVENPORT: And there's no reason

         16  why they couldn't include information on the New

         17  York City Human Rights Commission.

         18                 I mean, that's the moment, you know,

         19  we talked earlier about the need to educate

         20  purchasers, and that may be the moment.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes, but I'm

         22  just saying in addition, that Federation and Council

         23  should make that part of their discussions, part of

         24  their understanding and part of their education. Not

         25  just relying just on the brokers.
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          2                 It needs to have different points of

          3  access, this information.

          4                 MS. DAVENPORT: Absolutely.

          5  Absolutely.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, thank

          7  you, Mr. Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

          9  Council member. And thank you to the panel. We very

         10  much appreciate your testimony.

         11                 Our last panel is Craig Gurian, the

         12  Anti-Discrimination Center of Metropolitan New York,

         13  and Andy Cutler. And we welcome your testimony.

         14                 Congratulations again, Craig, on

         15  Intro. 22-A. Congratulations again, Gale Brewer, on

         16  Intro. 22-A.

         17                 MR. GURIAN: Thank you very much,

         18  Councilman, and I think Mr. Cutler is going to go

         19  first.

         20                 MR. CUTLER: My name is Andrew Cutler.

         21  I am a member of the law firm of Cutler, Minikes &

         22  Adelman. We have offices here in New York City. I

         23  was going to say good morning, but I think it's good

         24  afternoon. For the last 20 years, I've represented

         25  hundreds and hundreds of clients in the connection
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          2  with the sale and purchase of cooperative

          3  apartments. I am here to tell you that the current

          4  cooperative admission system does not work. It is

          5  broken and desperately needs to be fixed.

          6                 Cooperative buildings vary

          7  significantly in terms of what standards they

          8  require for admission, and in terms of how uniformly

          9  the Board of Directors of those apply those

         10  standards.

         11                 Buildings come to have reputations as

         12  difficult buildings or easy buildings and as

         13  arbitrary buildings or straightforward buildings.

         14                 In one respect, however, co-ops in

         15  New York tend to act alike, and that is in refusing

         16  to give the applicant or the seller a reason when

         17  the applicant is turned down.

         18                 The consequences are very serious.

         19  Often a person will be involved with the sale of

         20  their current apartment and the turn down either

         21  sets off a chain reaction, upending his or her own

         22  sale, and perhaps the sale of the apartment of his

         23  or her purchaser was leaving, or else the leaves the

         24  person the very difficult circumstance of having no

         25  place to go.
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          2                 The consequences are also serious in

          3  terms of the emotional impact on people. Purchasers

          4  don't get an opportunity to get in front of a co-op

          5  board before the seller has been convinced that

          6  they're a good candidate, before the seller's broker

          7  is likewise convinced, and unless they're paying all

          8  cash, having qualified for financing by having

          9  obtained a loan commitment from a lender.

         10                 The process of looking for an

         11  apartment is not easy, and people generally have

         12  their heart set on the apartment that they have

         13  selected and contracted for.

         14                 When they are rejected, it's not easy

         15  to deal with and there is often a feeling that the

         16  co-op acted unfairly.

         17                 On one hand, I know myself of

         18  circumstances where neither I nor the broker in the

         19  transaction, nor the applicant can imagine any

         20  single reason for a board turndown other than

         21  discrimination.

         22                 I believe that the disclosure

         23  requirements of this bill would help deter that.

         24                 But there is another problem and that

         25  is where there actually is a problem in an
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          2  application and the lack of disclosure means that an

          3  applicant can't remedy or fix it. This could be an

          4  error in a credit report, it could be that the

          5  applicant has not set out their finances in

          6  sufficiently clear enough fashion, or sufficiently

          7  substantiated their financial condition.

          8                 If the were a disclosure, there would

          9  be an opportunity to correct problems in the

         10  application prior to rejection, or at least fix them

         11  for the next time out.

         12                 It would not be enough to have a

         13  requirement that a reason be given for a board

         14  turndown, reasons for cooperative rejections would

         15  have to be set forth with specificity or else co-ops

         16  will simply adopt a general catch phrase for the

         17  rejection that doesn't explain what actually

         18  motivated the rejection of the individual applicant.

         19                 Concerns about burdens are wildly

         20  over-blown for two reasons: First, the Statement of

         21  Reasons requirement is only triggered where there is

         22  in fact a turndown.

         23                 While the percentages vary from

         24  building to building, most applicants are, in fact,

         25  approved, and it does not require a statement to be
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          2  made.

          3                 Second, the members of a board know

          4  precisely why they turned someone down, and it is

          5  simple just to say why.

          6                 The objection you will hear about

          7  complication and expense has nothing to do with the

          8  ability of a board to articulate its reasons and

          9  everything to do with evasion.

         10                 Applicants who believe that they were

         11  discriminated against are frequently deterred from

         12  taking any legal action because they don't have

         13  solid information against which to test their

         14  suspicions.

         15                 Co-ops may like that, but serious

         16  enforcement of the Human Rights Law has to favor

         17  disclosure.

         18                 Finally, it is obvious that the

         19  ability to wait until a lawsuit has been commenced

         20  facilitates the concealment of the co-ops true

         21  reasons. What you get instead of the truth are

         22  reasons that are drummed up by the co-op's counsel

         23  on reinvestigation of the application, and not the

         24  actual reason of the co-op's decision.

         25                 Council members, this bill is overdue
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          2  and should be passed. Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 MR. GURIAN: Thank you, Chairman, for

          6  your comments and your work on Intro. 22, and while

          7  we're on that subject, I like the opportunity of

          8  just publicly thanking your counsel, Jackie Sherman,

          9  for her professionalism and conscientiousness in the

         10  course of the laborious road of getting that to

         11  passage. Thank you. And to Council Member Monserrate

         12  for introducing this bill.

         13                 Three things just very quickly to

         14  start. Number one, we have an agreement on

         15  something. We have an agreement that the vast

         16  majority of applicants are accepted. So, all the sky

         17  is falling, we're going to be doing nothing but

         18  paperwork on this, is entirely over-blown. There are

         19  relatively few turndowns, it's easy to deal with.

         20  Concerns about record keeping. You have to keep

         21  track of how many people have been accepted and how

         22  many people have been turned down. A simple excel

         23  spread sheet can do that.

         24                 Number two, something about which we

         25  don't have agreement. I, myself, learned some new
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          2  code words this morning. People who are not willing

          3  to accept their responsibilities. It used to be that

          4  the code words were, well, these people just don't

          5  fit in.

          6                 If, in fact, a co-op believes and

          7  bases its decision on the fact that someone won't be

          8  taking out their share of the garbage, that's the

          9  reason to set forth in the statement, and it's as

         10  simple as simple can be.

         11                 Third, in terms of what the

         12  Commission on Human Rights said about burden,

         13  there's some disagreements I have in terms of what

         14  the proposal of the law actually says, but in terms

         15  of burden, it is certainly true that the Commission,

         16  in terms of City-funded staffing, is more than 85

         17  percent below the levels of the Dinkins's

         18  Administration, below even the lowest levels of the

         19  Giuliani Administration, but if the Commission is

         20  not able to undertake an investigation, the only

         21  components of which are, was there a statement, and

         22  was it made with specificity, we're in even worse

         23  trouble than I thought.

         24                 Now, look, to enhance the

         25  effectiveness of the City's Human Rights Law, the
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          2  Council could have chosen, could choose to require

          3  data to be submitted to the City Human Rights

          4  Commission, or another agency on all transactions.

          5  And in fact, it is a traditional tool of

          6  Anti-Discrimination Agencies, like Equal Employment

          7  Opportunity Commission, to have those requirements.

          8                 Council Member Monserrate's bill is

          9  more modest in scope. The only reporting that is

         10  required is reporting to the subset for people who

         11  are rejected, and as I and others have said, an

         12  individual co-op building, the numbers of people

         13  turned down in any given year are small.

         14                 I think that people can reasonably

         15  differ on whether to put the bill in force all in

         16  one fell-swoop, or maybe have a phase-in where the

         17  smallest co-ops are brought under the requirements

         18  of the law after a delay. I think people can

         19  reasonably differ on the scope of penalties that are

         20  available, and I'm sure there will be more

         21  discussion about that. But when you pass a co-op

         22  disclosure law, you have to pass it with

         23  enforcement, and enforcement mechanisms. We've had

         24  decades for there to be voluntary compliance, for

         25  co-ops to adopt best practices that include
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          2  disclosure. They haven't done it. They're proud they

          3  haven't done it, and a requirement to disclose will

          4  mean nothing without enforcement.

          5                 It's also important, and I was very

          6  pleased to hear the realtors who came forward this

          7  morning, because there have been a number of

          8  realtors at the largest Manhattan realty groups that

          9  I have spoken with who have made similar remarks but

         10  who were not prepared to take the step at this point

         11  to come forward out of concerns about retaliation.

         12                 So, I appreciate the suggestions and

         13  we are certainly looking forward to working with

         14  anyone who wants to craft a solution on this, but it

         15  is very, very important that a final version of the

         16  bill will refrain from doing anything that could be

         17  argued to be beyond the Council's authority.

         18                 That is why this bill unmistakably

         19  affirms that a co-op will have exactly the same

         20  right to apply non-discriminatory criteria of a

         21  choice as it has today.

         22                 And, so, any proposed amendments to

         23  Intro. 504 should be examined to make sure that

         24  they, too, don't purport to change what co-ops are

         25  legally entitled to do.
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          2                 The reality in the realm of housing

          3  discrimination is that while co-ops are subject to

          4  the same law as other housing providers, they are

          5  more insulated from prosecution than are rentals.

          6                 Unlike the rental context, for

          7  example, there has not been a satisfactory mechanism

          8  developed to be able to use testers to see whether

          9  discrimination occurs. You can't -- you can send a

         10  tester out to a renter, at least at the

         11  Anti-Discrimination Center, we don't have a million

         12  and a half handy to put in a bank account and get

         13  that test set up.

         14                 The way co-ops undermined the Human

         15  Rights Law is simple. They take advantage of not

         16  providing reasons for rejection contemporaneously,

         17  and have not been enforced by courts or the Human

         18  Rights Commission to submit to discovery prior to

         19  the plaintiff.

         20                 They then present in court after the

         21  fact reasons based on litigation discovered

         22  investigation that in a lawyer's assessment protect

         23  the co-op best, rather than presenting the actual

         24  reasons for the rejection which is what Human Rights

         25  Law demands.

                                                            105

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 That's why Intro. 504 demands that

          3  co-ops put their cards on the table and then does

          4  not allow other reasons to be introduced in the

          5  defense of a housing discrimination case. And I want

          6  to underline this point. I'd call it the preclusion

          7  provision, that it's the reason you give and no

          8  other reasons, only applies to housing

          9  discrimination litigation, not any other kind of

         10  litigation that might arise.

         11                 So, people and their co-ops or

         12  prospective co-ops have all sorts of problems with

         13  one another, that's entire outside this bill.

         14                 The complaint here actually is 504

         15  will make a co-op's resistance to transparency more

         16  burdensome to achieve. Good faith efforts to comply

         17  on the other hand are not burdensome at all. And I

         18  just want to add one last thing. Disclosure is not a

         19  brand new idea. When adverse action is taken in

         20  respect to a consumer's application based in full or

         21  in part on a consumer credit application, the

         22  federal Fair Credit Reporting Act requires that the

         23  user of the information give notice of the adverse

         24  action and inform the consumer of the agency that

         25  had provided the information.
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          2                 Where the adverse action like a

          3  credit turned down is based on information provided

          4  by third parties other than consumer reporting

          5  agencies, the user of the information upon request

          6  under the same law has to disclose the nature of the

          7  information upon which the user relied.

          8                 Getting turned down for a home is

          9  even more important than getting turned down, say,

         10  for a department store credit card, which is

         11  something that's covered by the Fair Credit

         12  Reporting Act, and people deserve to be given

         13  reasons.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 And Craig, I know when you say you

         17  are happy to work with us through the legislative

         18  process, you've earned your stripes and shown that

         19  you do put your time and energy in, so we appreciate

         20  that all very much.

         21                 Council Member Monserrate, any

         22  comments or questions?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: I just, I

         24  was asking before, some of the other panelists, the

         25  amount of times that someone was denied or when this
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          2  issue arose. I think even with that, what's the

          3  average size, the average co-op that's sold?

          4                 MR. GURIAN: I think that one of the

          5  things that's going to happen, I have a prediction

          6  for the next hearing, and it's going to be very much

          7  like what happens in the rent regulation context

          8  where the smallest landlords are trotted out to

          9  explain why things are so burdensome.

         10                 Based on census information of all

         11  the owner-occupied buildings, anywhere from three

         12  families on up, that universe in the City, 57

         13  percent of them are 50 or more units and 14 percent

         14  are 20 or more units, so in the aggregate, 71 and

         15  some odd percent are in buildings of that size. And

         16  again, this notion of burdensomeness, we're going to

         17  have to vet this through the lawyers; well, if a

         18  co-op wants to put its reasons on the table, it

         19  should be able to do it. If it wants to try, as was

         20  suggested by a previous speaker, to conceal the

         21  reasons, well, as a matter of Housing Discrimination

         22  Law, it's very important to freeze those reasons in

         23  place and not give people additional bites at the

         24  apple.

         25                 I am not suggesting, and maybe I
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          2  should, I should say this explicitly, that there is

          3  discrimination in every co-op or in a majority of

          4  co-ops, I think we should be realistic and recognize

          5  that in New York City it is widely universally known

          6  and understood that there is tremendous amount of

          7  arbitrariness in a lot of co-ops, but on the

          8  discrimination end of things, it's not all over the

          9  place, but it remains significant and we know from

         10  other surveys of discrimination, most complaints of

         11  discrimination don't get reported upon.

         12                 Some of that has to do with a lack of

         13  faith in the enforcement mechanisms. I have to agree

         14  that some of it has to do with lack of information.

         15  We have been saying for three and a half years now

         16  to this Administration, that either through this

         17  Human Rights Commission or better still to the

         18  Department of Finance which is in regular

         19  communication with every property owner in New York

         20  City, send people a statement, along with their tax

         21  bill, if you like, of all of the rights and

         22  obligations under the Human Rights Law. Simple, not

         23  costly, and they just don't do that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         25  much for your testimony. We appreciate it very, very
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          2  much.

          3                 That concludes the formal panels. We

          4  do have one person who signed up for public

          5  testimony. I want to welcome Mr. Reyes-Montblanc.

          6  And just remind everyone, we have consistent rules

          7  about public testimony and always have, it's two

          8  minutes, and we welcome it but we do run the clock

          9  and stick to that.

         10                 Welcome, Mr. Reyes-Montblanc, and we

         11  definitely are going to enter your written statement

         12  into the public record. You might want to summarize

         13  your core points.

         14                 MR. REYES-MONTBLANC: Thank you. Thank

         15  you, Mr. Chairman.

         16                 Our sister, the Council of New York

         17  Cooperatives and Condominiums, and the Council of

         18  Cooperatives and the Federation of New York Housing

         19  Cooperatives and Condominiums have already testified

         20  extensively. The HDFC Council is the smallest and

         21  youngest of the cooperative groups. We are strictly

         22  volunteers. We have no staff, and we do a lot of

         23  advocacy and mutual assistance.

         24                 HDFC cooperatives are low-income

         25  co-ops. There are approximately 1,300 of them
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          2  currently, and another 350 or so in the pipeline.

          3  Most of them came from the in rem stock of the City.

          4                 It is composed of mostly minorities,

          5  probably about 40 percent black and 40 percent

          6  Latino, and all this Asian and so forth, maybe

          7  another five, ten percent, maybe five percent ethnic

          8  whites. Mostly working poor, and living in, most of

          9  our buildings are located in areas that a few years

         10  ago nobody wanted to go into and that now are

         11  beginning to get much credit because of the efforts

         12  that our people put in in cleaning their

         13  neighborhoods, especially the Lower East Side and

         14  Hamilton Heights and Hell's Kitchen and so forth.

         15                 We are in opposition to this Intro.

         16  504 for all the reasons stated. But in addition to

         17  that, our type of co-ops for years was ignored by

         18  the brokers, and now in the last two years or so,

         19  they have become fashionable for our buildings to

         20  become the target of some brokers who have began to

         21  inflate the prices way beyond the income

         22  restrictions, our buildings are income restricted,

         23  and it's becoming a major problem.

         24                 The problem is not that the people

         25  make enough money, the problem is that the people
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          2  being brought in make too much money, and the people

          3  who actually need the housing is beginning to be

          4  pushed away.

          5                 We are afraid that this will open up

          6  a whole series of actions by brokers who bring

          7  candidates that are not acceptable.

          8                 In addition to that, income is not

          9  just the only criteria for selecting a new member to

         10  our communities.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Sir, I'm going

         12  to ask you to sum up. This is a rule we stick to

         13  over all our hearings, so please sum up.

         14                 MR. REYES-MONTBLANC: Okay. Well, I'll

         15  summarize it. We are against it.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         18  much. That was good summing up. Thank you for your

         19  testimony. Thank you, again, to my colleague Council

         20  Member Monserrate, and my counsel Jackie Sherman.

         21  And we look forward to continue discussion of this

         22  legislation. This hearing of the General Welfare

         23  Committee is now adjourned.

         24                 (The following written testimony was

         25  read into the record as submitted.)
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          2

          3  Written Testimony Of:

          4  Jordi Reyes-Montblanc

          5  President and Chairman of the Board of Directors

          6  HDFC Council

          7

          8                 Chairman DeBlasio, Members of the

          9  Committee, Ladies and Gentlemen:

         10                 I am Jordi Reyes-Montblanc, president

         11  and chairman of the Board of Directors of The HDFC

         12  Council. The HDFC Council was organized in 1993 as

         13  the HDFC Coalition to represent the interest of the

         14  Housing Development Fund Companies co-operatives

         15  community.

         16                 Also, I am a member of the Board of

         17  Directors of the Council of New York Cooperatives

         18  and Condominiums and a member of the Federation of

         19  New York Housing Cooperatives and Vice Chairman of

         20  the Board of the Parodneck Foundation and Community

         21  Assisted Tenant Controlled Housing.

         22                 I am a Board member of my own HDFC

         23  co-op, 601 West 136th Street, HDFC located in the

         24  beautiful Hamilton heights District in the Village

         25  of Harlem. HDFC cooperatives are the most successful
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          2  housing program that the City of New York has ever

          3  established. Currently there are approximately

          4  25,000 HDFC cooperative apartments and over 1,300

          5  buildings in New York City mostly in Manhattan,

          6  Brooklyn and the Bronx, there are approximately 350

          7  buildings in the pipeline to convert to HDFC

          8  cooperatives. HDFCs house mostly minorities and

          9  ethnic whites families of low income, the working

         10  poor of New York City.

         11                 Our missions are to advocate for the

         12  best interests of the HDFC co-op apartment's,

         13  home-owners, to provide mutual assistance, to

         14  promote economy of scale programs and to carry-out

         15  political action and educational programs that may

         16  be required to achieve our mission. I am here on

         17  behalf of our Board of Directors and membership to

         18  make the comments that follow on Intro. 504.

         19                 I believe that it is essential that

         20  the City Council be made aware of some relevant

         21  facts not addressed by the proposed legislation that

         22  could adversely affect our HDFC cooperative

         23  community and to request that they be considered and

         24  be made part of the legislation and with your

         25  indulgence will proceed:

                                                            114

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 Cooperatives are self governing

          3  communities that democratically elect a governing

          4  Board of Directors from among the qualified

          5  shareholders who are in fact equal partners in the

          6  enterprise of cooperative housing.

          7                 Through the years the courts have

          8  reinforced the right of cooperative Boards to select

          9  new shareholders using various criteria such as

         10  income, ability to participate and what

         11  contributions can a shareholder bring in to make the

         12  cooperative stronger and more efficient with the

         13  ultimate objective of providing decent, secure,

         14  affordable housing at the lowest cost possible.

         15                 Self-government or Home Rule are of

         16  paramount importance to the survival of our HDFC

         17  cooperatives and although the selection process can

         18  be a strain and may even seem arbitrary to those in

         19  the outside, particularly real estate brokers more

         20  interested in the selling commissions than the needs

         21  of the HDFC cooperative. The process is not of the

         22  liking of brokers who are now beginning to market

         23  HDFC cooperative shares as the selling prices seem

         24  too low when compared to market rate and other types

         25  of limited-equity cooperatives shares.
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          2                 In fact, I have had conversations

          3  with several members of Council regarding the great

          4  increases in the prices of HDFC cooperative shares,

          5  which in my opinion are not in accordance to the

          6  income restrictions and the nature and intent of the

          7  HDFC cooperatives and how Real Estate Brokers are

          8  escalating the prices of shares to levels that are

          9  nothing short of gentrification of the last

         10  affordable home-ownership available in New York

         11  City.

         12                 The HDFC Council opposes completely

         13  Intro. 504 for it will negatively interfere with the

         14  rightful workings of the Boards and will in fact

         15  encourage more Brokers to push ever upwards the

         16  price of HDFC cooperative shares.

         17                 Board of Directors are prohibited

         18  from committing discrimination against the 11

         19  protected classed, age, gender, race, religion,

         20  creed, country of national origin, disability,

         21  marital status, sexual orientation, family size

         22  (children or childless), or lawful occupation.

         23                 This Intro. 504 will not produce a

         24  better mouse-trap or better protection against

         25  discrimination but it will create a new mother-lode
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          2  for Real Estate Brokers that will cajole and threat

          3  and even take legal action against Boards that do

          4  not accept their inflated-priced buyer clients,

          5  regardless of whatever legal reason in their best

          6  business judgment a Board may have for rejecting a

          7  prospective new equal partner into their community

          8  and housing enterprise.

          9                 Additionally, Intro 504 will serve as

         10  a discouraging factor to shareholders to serve as

         11  Board Members for fear of the litigations that they

         12  may be faced from Brokers representing rejected

         13  clients and the clients that may have been given

         14  great expectations by the Broker.

         15                 For all of the above reason and other

         16  reasons expressed by our sister organizations, the

         17  HDFC Council adamantly opposes Intro 504 and its

         18  presumption of wrong-doing by cooperative Boards.

         19                 I thank you for your attention and

         20  support.

         21                 Respectfully submitted by, J.

         22  Reyes-Montblanc, For and On Behalf of the Board of

         23  Directors, The HDFC Council.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 12:35 p.m.)

         25
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 21st day of September 2005.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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